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Praise for DON’T TREAD ON ME





“A book as dashing, formidable, and triumphant as the American fighting man it describes.”


—Bernard Cornwell, author of the bestselling Richard Sharpe series.


“A rousing crash course on the U.S. military tradition.”


—National Review


“Don’t Tread on Me is a magisterial, scintillating review of America’s arms, armies, and singular soldiers.”


—American Spectator


“H. W. Crocker’s history of America’s wars is a rarity: not a dull scholarly monograph but a popular history liberally sprinkled with the author’s eccentric opinions about the way that war shaped America’s history. Crocker holds nothing back. He is opinionated, argumentative, and dots his text with unusual information designed to make the reader think twice about America’s past…. Crocker’s book is a controversial and absorbing read about a crucial topic, the role that the military has played in shaping America’s past. I recommend it highly.”


—Philadelphia Inquirer


“A lively popular history of Americans at war…. Don’t Tread on Me fills gaps left by the grand narrative of American military history.”


—Washington Times


“H. W. Crocker’s Don’t Tread on Me is three books in one. It entertains like a novel, teaches like a comprehensive text, and captures the secret essence of its subject like a great biography…. In this book, a tour de armed force, we see four hundred years of American history from what Crocker calls the ‘gentle art of scalping’ to post-Vietnam America resurgent in the fight against terrorists…. Americans should read the book to understand for themselves America at war. I will reread it for the sheer joy of the writer’s art.”


—Human Events


“A sharp view of four hundred years of American military history… Crocker doesn’t care whose toes he steps on…. He is an ardent cheerleader for America’s military, with hundreds of anecdotes of courage, resourcefulness, and leadership in wartime. America’s service members come out well, but most politicians don’t.”


—Military Officer


“Crocker writes with verve and panache…. [His] writing may be colorful, but his book is not frivolous. Don’t Tread on Me is an entirely serious effort to illustrate the importance of America’s wars to its progress and character and how large is the debt we owe to those men and women—professionals and citizen-soldiers alike—who have worn our country’s uniform and, from North American forests to Iraqi deserts, stood in the day of battle.”


—Crisis magazine


“A rich, impassioned tribute to America’s fighting forces over four hundred years. Great stuff.”


—Michelle Malkin, bestselling author of Invasion


“The best single volume I’ve found paying tribute to the American military is Don’t Tread on Me, a sweeping, fast-paced four-hundred-year history of America at war.”


—David Limbaugh, bestselling author of Jesus on Trial


“In witty and irreverent prose… Don’t Tread on Me deftly illuminates the full spectrum of America’s rich military traditions. Its tales of great warriors and great battles, entertainingly told, should inspire us in time of war. National greatness demands illustrious history—and vigilant determination to live by that history.”


—New York Sun


“This swashbuckling (and frankly imperialist) military history of the United States is great fun to read. It’s usefully and entertainingly informative. (If you’re a little fuzzy on the details of American military history, this is the book that will help you get it straight.)… Crocker’s take-no-prisoners military history of America is the ideal present… [and] Crocker’s writing is marvelous—so full of vim and zest that it will pull even readers who don’t usually enjoy military history into the flow of events.”


—The Conservative Book Club


“There is something in this iconoclastic book to offend just about everyone. Crocker, a journalist and former political speechwriter, seems to delight in poking fun at a wide variety of targets…. The one constant object of Crocker’s admiration is the prowess of the ordinary American fighting man, portrayed by Crocker as tough, disciplined, and able to adapt quickly to changing circumstances on the battlefield.”


—Booklist


“Talk about politically incorrect! Don’t Tread on Me is the best, most entertaining account of the American warrior I’ve ever read. Crocker gets it! So will you.”


—Lt. Col. Robert “Buzz” Patterson, U.S. Air Force, former military aide to the president, bestselling author of Dereliction of Duty


“In Don’t Tread on Me, Crocker writes manfully of our nation’s proud martial spirit that is assailed on so many sides today. I was ready to head to the nearest armed forces recruiting office after reading it.”


—Steven F. Hayward, author of The Age of Reagan


“Another of those rollicking good reads that we have come to expect from the author of Triumph: The Power and the Glory of the Catholic Church and the fictional The Old Limey…. The pace is brisk, but never superficial; the style is efficient, but not sketchy. Serious matters are presented and treated seriously, but not without the occasional touch of light irony or subtle humor. Sly waggishness even extends to the footnotes…. It delivers a great quantity of solid information (along with some opinion) with style and flair, but no wasted words…. Don’t Tread on Me is a vigorous—some might even say ‘exhilarating’—march through four centuries of American military history…. Every time a sword was drawn, an arrow released, or a trigger pulled in an American war, Crocker has something to say about it—and, moreover, something worth saying.”


—Southern Partisan


“The central thrust of Harry Crocker’s sparkling book is that a nation’s very essence is reflected in the character of its military, that its history is written in the blood and courage of its fighting men. In prose as unblinking as it is fast-moving, he tells the story of the creation of the ‘American Empire.’ This book is a true one-of-a-kind; its power flows from Crocker’s focus on the dauntless warriors who forged and safeguarded the United States of America.”


—Lt. Gen. Dave R. Palmer, former superintendent of West Point


“Don’t Tread on Me is that rare but admirable thing—a book written from a Tory, Imperialist, Southern Gentleman’s perspective. Winston Churchill and Andrew Jackson would both be proud. A rousing read through the rattling good tales of American history.”


—John O’Sullivan, bestselling author of The President, the Pope, and the Prime Minister


“Robust and provocative, Don’t Tread on Me is a unique addition to any library of American history—and it might try to annex your neighboring volumes.”


—Tony Blankley, bestselling author of The West’s Last Chance
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Our country! In her intercourse with foreign nations, may she always be in the right; but our country, right or wrong!


— Commodore Stephen Decatur, 1816













PROLOGUE The Summons of the Trumpet



The men of Merrill’s Marauders (code-named GALAHAD) had already endured more than 50 percent casualties—and it would get worse. General Frank Merrill himself had suffered a heart attack.


The suffocating tropical heat; the long, exhausting marches through choking jungle; and the biting, stinging insects and leeches that blistered any exposed skin were annoyances. Worse were amoebic dysentery, malaria, scrub typhus, and starvation rations that enfeebled the men. And, yes, there were the Japanese, too.


The Marauders had expected to be withdrawn by now. They had been fought to breaking point. But General “Vinegar Joe” Stilwell needed them. He had to take and hold Myitkyina in northern Burma from the Japanese before the rainy season. President Roosevelt himself was demanding action in Burma. Stilwell knew that only the Marauders could do it: only they—not his Chinese troops—were tough enough, aggressive enough, skilled enough, and had the full support of the Burmese people.


Merrill’s remaining effectives, 1,400 men, spearheaded the offensive. What kept them going was Merrill’s promise that if they captured the airstrip at Myitkyina, he would have them flown out and “given a party to cause taxpayers a shudder… and given furloughs.”1 But the march was worse than could have been imagined. The mountainous trail was a green hell, slippery with mud that sent pack mules sliding down ravines—disappearing with the Marauders’ precious supplies. The ravages of bugs, fever, hunger, and thirst swarmed over already debilitated men who were forcing themselves to march into combat. Some of them simply couldn’t go on and fell out. But most of them trudged, or even crawled, wearily forward, cursing their luck as men who had volunteered for the Marauders.


But they made it—and on 17 May 1944 easily seized the airstrip and a ferry post on the Irrawaddy River. Yet there was no relief, no party awaiting them.


They were asked to hang on; they had to help the Chinese take the town of Myitkyina, which the Japanese were rapidly reinforcing with thousands of men. The Marauders were so invalided that Stilwell wrote, “GALAHAD is just shot.”2 Merrill called his men “a pitiful but still splendid sight.”3


With those pitiful, splendid men, the Allies kept the airstrip and captured the town of Myitkyina on 3 August 1944. A week later, the unit was officially disbanded. Every member of Merrill’s Marauders—which Marauder Colonel Charles N. Hunter considered “the most beat upon… regimental-sized unit that participated in World War II”4—was awarded a Bronze Star.


Still, it is reasonable to ask, what were American fighting men doing in Burma at all? Or for that matter, why were they in North Africa in 1805, in Vera Cruz in 1847, in Peking in 1900, in Nicaragua in 1932, or in Afghanistan and Iraq in the first two decades of the twenty-first century? This book provides an answer. It is not a blow-by-blow account of every campaign and battle fought by the United States; it does not chart changes in military uniforms, technology, and organization; it is not based on riffling through previously undiscovered papers trying to ferret out new information. It is instead an argument about American history based on America’s wars. The argument, briefly stated, is that America was a country of practical, independent-minded people shaped by the frontier, an ambitious and well-meaning people who naturally carved out an “empire of liberty.”5 Whether America remains that country is another question.


But certainly through the twentieth century, it was America’s desire for empire that explains her history, and why our Founding Fathers rebelled against the most liberal country in the world. Had America remained part of the British Empire what sort of future would have awaited us? Perhaps one more like Australia, or Canada. But American leaders living in urban Philadelphia, near the wharves of Boston, and in the plantation houses of Virginia were not content to play second fiddle to bureaucrats, parliamentarians, or even the king in London. Americans wanted an empire of their own, where there would be no proclamation line barring expansion into Indian territory, no restrictions—made in far-off England—governing American trade and law, no shackles placed on what Americans would be allowed to do in furtherance of their own prosperity and self-governance.


The American fighting man has, of course, been the creator and protector of this empire. He began his career in the seventeenth-century Indian Wars—and it is from these wars, and the development of Rogers’ Rangers, that American soldiers developed their unheralded strength in small-unit operations. As practical frontiersmen, they showed an early facility for stealthy long marches, ranger combat tactics, and stout fortifications erected overnight. In the War for Independence, American generalship capitalized on British mistakes and halfheartedness and inspired the Patriots to hang on until French intervention at Yorktown secured British defeat. As scions of Great Britain, the naval power par excellence, the muscular Americans took readily to the sea; and the young United States relied heavily on its superlative mastery of seamanship and naval gunnery—strengths that ensured its survival and prosperity in the tumultuous years after independence, when France, Great Britain, and North African pirates tried to circumscribe America’s commerce. And the Americans were not humble about carving out a continental empire, pushing aside Indians, Spaniards, and Mexicans. In fact, had America’s empire in the Southwest incorporated all of Mexico—as was easily on offer during the Mexican War—the great tragedy of the War Between the States might have been avoided, with sectional friction diverted into continued expansion.


Imperium et libertas, empire and liberty, freedom to grow and expand, was America’s eighteenth- and nineteenth-century creed; and the refusal to be trammeled by Indians, the British, or any other impediment to carving out an empire of liberty carried over into the winning of the West, Teddy Roosevelt’s charge up San Juan Hill, the U.S. Marines raising the flag over Iwo Jima, and the Ranger patrols that hunted al-Qaeda terrorists in Afghanistan. All of this is of a piece; none of it is a dramatic break with previous American history; Americans have always been an active, expansionist, commercial people, ready to take up arms to defend their interests. Americans refused, from the beginning, to accept restrictions on their trading freely with the world. They refused, at the opening of the twenty-first century, to be cowed by terrorism that wanted to dictate whom America could befriend, and with whom America could conduct commerce and broadcast ideas. America would accept no chains that kept her from being herself and acting freely on the global stage.


Inevitably, the defense of this freedom required military force. Even that deprecator of a standing army and a blue water navy Thomas Jefferson understood, writing in 1785, that “Our commerce on the ocean… must be paid for by frequent war.”6 In winning these wars, it is a commonplace that America’s strength has been her enormous industrial, financial, and technological capacity. But in Jefferson’s time, America was not the industrial behemoth she would later become. Military hardware, industrial productivity, economic capital, and vanguard technology are all vitally important ingredients of American power. But America’s military success relies just as much on something far more basic: undaunted courage,7 the sort of courage learned fighting Indians in northern forests, Seminoles in Floridian swamps, Indian horsemen on the Great Plains, and vast numbers of Mexican legions formed up to attack a few Texians.


The American fighting man reflects the bravery, ingenuity, and grit of a people whose westward expansion required self-confidence, self-reliance, resilience, and determination. His leaders have been above all practical men who know what needs to be done and do it (men like George Washington, Andrew Jackson, and Ulysses S. Grant), who are guided by moral probity (Robert E. Lee, Chester Nimitz, Norman Schwarzkopf), and who operate by dash and daring (Stephen Decatur, George S. Patton, Tommy Franks). As long as America remembers her heritage and retains the best of her own character, she will win her wars. That, however, is the challenge.


This book is a debt of gratitude to the fighting men who have made America what she is; who defend her now; and who will defend her in the future. This is their story, and if it can be summed up in a phrase, it is this: Nemo me impune lacessit, no one crosses me with impunity.










CHAPTER 1 The Gentle Art of Scalping



The Americans were Indian fighters.


At the very first appearance of Englishmen on the shoreline of Virginia “there came the Savages creeping upon all foure, from the Hills, like Beares, with the Bowes in their mouthes, charged us very desperately in faces, hurt Captaine Gabrill Archer in both hands and a sayler in two places of the body very dangerous. After they spent their Arrowes, and felt the sharpnesse of our shot they retired into the Woods with a great noise, and so left us.”1 The danger was not constant; mostly there was peace. But the few misunderstandings and lethal suspicions could be painful enough. In one case in Virginia, a captain said the wrong thing while negotiating for food with the Powhatan Indians. His savage interlocutors killed thirty-four of the fifty Englishmen and scraped the flesh off the English captain with mussel shells before they threw him into the fire.


The intercourse between Indian and colonist would be full of such cultural exchanges, so that both sides learned to sever heads and limbs and display them from poles to discourage their enemies.2 The white man learned that a close shave from an Indian could include a shaving of skull and brain. The violent retributions of the Pilgrims in New England earned them the Indian nickname of “cutthroats.”3 Throughout the New World, plagues, either native or imported from Europe, whipped through new settlers and culled native populations. In Virginia, the Indians taught the colonists the use of carcinogenic tobacco, and the colonists taught the Indians the abuse of alcohol. The process of colonization was, thus, a “learning experience” and, like so many such experiences, had a high mortality rate.


It was to the colonists’ decided advantage that the Indians of North America, aside from the Five Nations of the Iroquois and the smaller Algonquin confederation of Virginia and North Carolina, were divided into a mosaic of tribal factions, with most of the tribes hostile to one another. Skirmishes between the tribes were common, and most Indians regarded the white man as a potential ally against other Indian enemies.


The Indians were big men, tall and muscular; stoics, stony-faced to pain and torture (hence their reputation as Noble Savages); contemptuous of weakness and, on the whole, oblivious to Christian concepts of mercy. When it came to warfare, they were devious, brutal, and undisciplined. They were masters of ambush and raid, but not of siege or set-piece battle. The American colonists learned to adopt such Indian tactics as were useful but fortified their own efforts with discipline, military science, and strategic campaigning.


Imposing as they were in their fearsome size, blood-chilling howls, and barbaric war paint, the “Red Men” (the colonists thought they were permanently sunburned or indelibly dyed from body painting) did not fill the European colonists with dread and fear. They saw them as human beings—the English even found the Indians’ body painting attractive4—granted that they had immortal souls, and credited them with ignorance of the true faith rather than hostility toward it, unlike the Muslims of North Africa and the Ottoman Empire.


In the case of the French, the Indians dealt with traders and missionaries. The traders spoke a universal language: I give you worthless beads (or very worthwhile muskets, ammunition, knives, tomahawks, and kettles) and you give me beaver or otter pelts. In the French fashion, these fur traders married into Indian families, and there was little cause for friction between the Indians and the voyageurs. As for the Catholic missionaries to New France, their courage impressed the Indians, even as their vows of chastity and teachings of mercy baffled them.


In Calvinist New England, there was a great emphasis on covenants, compacts, and contracts; and the Pilgrims, as proper men of business, were willing to arrange and sign these with the Indians as much as with anyone. The Pilgrims assumed a monopoly on divine favor, so in principle they had nothing to fear from the Indians. But businessmen often protect their investments with insurance, and the Pilgrims did the same by entrusting their security to a soldier, Miles Standish, a flame-haired, fiery bantam, who dominated Pilgrim counsels though he never belonged to their church. Staunchly upright they might be (though they did favor a tipple), and Calvinists, too, but Pilgrim men were practical men.


In Jamestown, in the colony of Virginia, there was another dominant (and short and stocky) soldier, Captain John Smith. As a teenager, Smith enlisted and fought the Spanish in the Netherlands. Afterward, he became a self-taught mercenary. He read the military classics, including Machiavelli’s Art of War (Miles Standish was a military student, too, partial to Caesar’s Commentaries), and practiced field exercises with explosives, horses, and signaling equipment. It is not often that the man of action and the man of intellect meet in an integral whole, but in Captain John Smith they did.


His self-taught apprenticeship complete, Smith signed on with the Austrians and fought the Turks in eastern Europe. Wounded in battle in Transylvania, he was captured by the Muslims, sold into slavery, and eventually escaped to become a colonist in Virginia. Smith was not a man easily affrighted: not by Indians and not by noblemen.


Though Americans like to think of themselves as common folk, the New World was blessed by royal charters and developed, in part, by noblemen with coats of arms. Yes, indeed, they invited settlers of a much more common stock and saw the colonies as a convenient dumping ground for religious dissenters, but, especially in the South, the idea of supplementing the riches of lineage with the presumed material riches of the New World, of acquiring vast estates, was very much to the fore in the minds of graduates of Oxford and Cambridge, as well as less well-tutored aristocrats, who decided to stake their claim to America.


Aristocrats of an unfortunately louche and luxurious sort were numerous among the early colonists of Virginia. There were at Jamestown some tough and hardy souls with military experience. But too many had braved a dangerous and hugely uncomfortable journey across the roiling Atlantic to a wild, thickly forested land populated by fearsome savages in order, they imagined, to make a leisured living off the land, easy riches by discovering gold, or effortless wealth through some unspecified trading activity. This mismatch of character, expectation, and reality proved suicidal as effete young blades who preferred starving to working—and who stayed true to that preference—died, dandies to the last, their fingers unsullied by toil, their bellies empty of food. It was Captain John Smith who kept the others alive with his now famous rule of “he that will not work shall not eat.”


Smith also impressed the Powhatan Indians. The Indians had assumed that thievery, an art in which they were well practiced, and a few unwelcoming archers’ volleys, would convince the English to leave. When that didn’t work, they sat back and watched in disdain as the English colony succumbed to starvation and disease. But Smith was too vigorous to succumb. Instead, he began expeditions of hunting, trading, and exploration. On one such, the Indians used a decoy of fair Indian maids to lure Smith and three compatriots into an ambush. Smith and two of his colleagues escaped. The third was scraped clean of his flesh (again by mussel shells) and then burned to death. A second ambush led to the wounding and capture of Smith, who was interrogated by the Indians at length and saved from having his brains beaten out with clubs only by the intervention of Chief Powhatan’s daughter Pocahontas, who not only saved the Englishman’s life but would marry another Englishman and become a convert to Christianity. Smith was the essential martial colonist and Pocahontas the great maiden of peace and comity between the English and the Indians in Virginia. Both, however, made the passage to England, and in their absence relations between the races deteriorated.


On Good Friday, 1622, the Indians came in among the settlers, as they often did, laden with game to trade. The colonists were friendly, relaxed, and unsuspecting of the massacre that would follow. Men, women, and children fell to a sudden Indian onslaught. Anywhere between a quarter and a third of Virginia’s colonists were murdered on that day of the Cross.5 In many cases, they were not only killed, but their dead bodies desecrated.


Before the massacre, the English had seen themselves as colonists of quite a different stripe from their enemies the Spanish, whom they characterized as exterminating inquisitors. But now, English tolerance and phlegm gave way to the English nanny with a blunderbuss. The Indians were to be taught a lesson in manners they would never forget—and kept under a perennial tutelage with the birch always at hand. The Virginia Company, the joint stock company whose investment was the colony, called for “perpetual warre without peace or truce” against the Indians.


Distant, vulnerable plantations were abandoned, arms arrived from England, and a war of explicit, if ineffective, extermination began. It was ineffective because the colonists continued to suffer from diseases and shortages of food (thanks to Indian raids on farms and the killing of farmers), and because the Indians made an elusive prey—prey that was also quite capable of striking back. The colonists did not limit themselves to hunting down warrior parties; they emulated the Indians and attacked native settlements, burning the Indians’ huts and making off with their stores of food.


A year and two months after the Good Friday massacre, the English returned the favor of the Indians’ initial treachery by gathering to sign a peace treaty with the Powhatan chief Opechancanough. The drinks provided for the Indians’ congratulatory toasts were poisoned, and though Opechancanough survived, his colleagues did not, and the English renewed their war against the Indians. Not only did the English see themselves as emulating the Indians’ treachery, they also scalped some of the dead. Opechancanough, who had hoped his act of Good Friday terrorism would drive the colonists out, found instead that the English grew in strength. In 1624, Virginia became no longer a private investment but a Crown Colony, an explicit outpost of England’s developing empire.6


The colonists’ skill as Indian fighters also grew. Though they engaged the Indians on unequal terms—the English had fewer men and their muskets were much slower to be reloaded than a bow and arrow—they learned to inflict far heavier casualties on the Red Men. The colonists’ secret was the same as that of ancient warfare—steadier discipline. Still, it took ten years for a formal peace to be arranged between the Indians and the Crown Colony of Virginia to end the First Tidewater War in 1632; and the Second Tidewater War began just over a decade later in 1644, when the now hundred-year-old Opechancanough ordered a replay of the Good Friday massacre. He succeeded in killing 500 colonists, more than he had killed twenty years earlier, but a far smaller proportion of the English population. This time it was fatal for him. His tribes were beaten, exiled from the Tidewater, and became vassals of the governor, owing him annual tribute. Opechancanough was captured, and before he could be transported as war booty to England, a soldier killed him.


In Calvinist New England, a similar drama unfolded in the first half of the seventeenth century. The settlers from the good ship Mayflower expected and found that Indians would shoot arrows at them. So they proceeded with caution, even disguising from the Indians their harsh losses to disease and cold that first winter in 1620–21, by planting crops over the graves of their dead. Luckily, that spring a compact was signed with the neighboring Wampanoag Indians. Pilgrims and Indians pledged themselves to peace, an alliance in case of war with other tribes, and general good behavior. The Pilgrims benefited greatly from the Indians teaching them how to thrive in their new surroundings. Indians and Pilgrims rubbed along well together, even combining to subdue a chieftain who wanted to overturn the peace, and, in general, lived amicably.


The investors in the Mayflower expedition, however, were less than pleased because of the lack of return on their investment and trusted that this could be remedied by leavening the settlement of self-proclaimed saints with a good dose of white trash gleaned from the slums of London. The white trash established a new settlement at Wessagusset—what became Weymouth, Massachusetts—and did what they always do: cause trouble. Unlike the Pilgrims, they were neither hardworking nor moral nor self-respecting. They recklessly sold their belongings, stole from others, became servants to the Indians, and worse still, whined and cried about their lot in front of the Red Men—something that grievously jeopardized white prestige. Indians expected self-possession and had nothing but contempt for those who would whimper or whinge.


Miles Standish, sensing that the Indians around the new settlement would soon make war—not only on the white trash of Wessagusset, but on the Pilgrims of Plymouth and the Puritans of Massachusetts Bay Colony—took preemptive action, murdering four Indians of the Massachusett tribe (whom he had invited to dinner) and waging a short, sharp attack on any Massachusett Indians foolish enough to stay in his vicinity. This strike by Standish—and the subsequent disbanding of Wessagusset Colony, with the Pilgrims paying for the white trash to be returned to England—ended any imminent threat of greater war with the Indians. Later, when an aristocrat founded the colony of Merrymount for merrymakers, the Pilgrims used Standish to forcibly squelch it. The Pilgrims dared not compromise the morality that ensured the safety of New England.


The first real Indian war of New England was the Pequot War in 1637. The Pequot tribe was warlike and had been implicated, though without much evidence, in the murder of a white trader. But equally damning in the colonists’ eyes was that the Pequots were uninterested in trade, ignored agreements with the colonists that they thought were irrelevant, and stood accused of being “a very false people.” Ironically, the precipitant cause of the war was the work of another tribe entirely that killed a group of white traders; the Pequots were a follow-on target because they were considered insufficiently obedient and a potential threat.


The colonists’ punitive expedition destroyed abandoned villages of the Block Island Indians responsible for the murders and sailed on to attack the Pequots, who kept carefully to the forests, forcing the colonists to inflict vengeance more on property than on people. The Pequots sought allies among the Narragansett tribe. But what would have been a powerful Indian confederacy was foiled when the colonists’ deployed their secret diplomatic weapon: the liberal (and banished) minister Roger Williams—further proof that the New England Calvinists were practical men.


If Williams was a heretic from Calvinism, he was nevertheless respected, trusted, and liked by the Indians. The Narragansetts took his counsel, refused to make common cause with the Pequots, and made a present of a severed Pequot hand to the government of the Massachusetts Bay Colony as a pledge of their troth.


With the loyalty of the Narragansetts assured—and another trader tortured to death by the Pequots—the colonial governments of Massachusetts, Connecticut, and Plymouth declared war. The colonists and allied Narragansett and Mohegan Indians launched a surprise attack on the main Pequot settlement alongside the Mystic River, torching the native huts and killing the Indians as they tried to flee. The victorious colonial troops pursued the remnants of the Pequot nation as it fled westward. Most of the remaining Pequots were trapped and killed in a swamp; those who fled farther west were seized—and scalped—by Mohawks, who won colonial approbation for their good deed. The few Pequots who survived were sold into slavery: either to their fellow Indians (to whom they became vassals), or to West Indian planters, or to the colonists themselves.


The formal alliance among the New England colonial governments was made permanent in 1643, so that the English would never be divided, as the Indians were. Roger Williams once explained to an Indian “that all the colonies were subject to one King Charles, and it was his pleasure, and our duty and engagement, for one English man to stand to the death by each other, in all parts of the world.”7 It was to the colonists’ great advantage that they did. Though Roger Williams’s own freethinking Rhode Island was formally excluded from “the United Colonies of New England,” its men would fight on the colonists’ behalf. Parochialism in the dangerous New World would have been deadly.


This was proved in King Philip’s War in 1675. “King Philip” was the English moniker given to the chief of the Wampanoags.8 Where Philip’s father had been content with peaceful cooperation with the colonists, and saw benefits from the Europeans’ advanced skills and knowledge, Philip saw only swarming masses of white men who threatened to overwhelm the Indians.


Informants, one of whom was murdered by King Philip’s agents, told the colonists that Philip was conspiring against them. While the colonists captured, tried, and executed a handful of seditious Indians, small-scale Indian raids hit frontier settlements, and Indian tribes—not just Philip’s Wampanoags—appeared to be on the move, suggesting the possibility of a general Indian uprising.


The war got off to an uncoordinated start. A variety of skirmishes between distrustful whites and Indians erupted into a New England–wide war. King Philip’s initial major strikes were at the Massachusetts settlements of Taunton, Rehoboth, and Dartmouth: houses burned, crops destroyed, livestock stolen, and settlers murdered, scalped, and desecrated to the war whoops of the celebrating Indians. Other raids followed, and the tribes committing them were various.


The psychological effect on the colonists was profound. Even friendly Indians were now viewed with suspicion, and some innocent Red Men were transported into slavery and exile. If war the Indians wanted, war they should have, and war often has little place for subtle distinctions. The war led to the largest army in New England’s early history: slightly more than 1,000 men—not counting Indian allies and other volunteers—from Plymouth, the Bay Colony, and Connecticut, out of a colonial population of 40,000, all under the command of Plymouth’s governor, Josiah Winslow.


The army was marched, through deep snow, to an elaborate Narragansett fort, the construction of which had been designed and supervised by a renegade settler—but the construction had not been completed. Winslow’s army found the gap in the fort and charged through it. The Indians were ready and met the army with fierce musket fire. Men fell, yet their colleagues kept on until they were among the Indians, fighting hand to hand. Torches flew into Indian huts. Indian braves tried to protect their families, and then fled with them. The battle turned into a rout, with heavy Indian casualties.9 Winslow attempted a pursuit, but it had to be cut short, because his troops were sick, weary, and short of supplies; they had suffered painful losses themselves.


Though the Narragansetts were nearly destroyed, the Indian raids continued on town after town. Most of the settlements in New England were attacked, with some abandoned completely to Indian flames and pillage. Indian ambushes obliterated entire colonial military units, numbering dozens of men. A colonist who trusted that his Bible would keep him safe from harm had his belly ripped open and his Bible stuffed inside by an Indian. For the Indians, it was total war.


The colonists of Massachusetts were compelled to retreat from all outlying settlements, but it was the Indians who were tiring of the struggle. The new colonial lines were defensible. The Indians were no longer able to pillage for food and had neglected their own harvests in the interests of war. Now it was they who felt their stomachs sticking to their backbones. And things got worse. Indian allies of the colonists captured hostile chiefs and killed them. The colonial militiamen—the only sort of soldiers the colonies had—kept hostile tribes in flight, pursuing, ambushing, and attacking them, with friendly Indians chasing the hostiles whenever the colonists got tired. Philip’s men were so worn down by fighting and fleeing that his once mighty uprising had dwindled to but a few followers, and soon he himself was hunted down and killed by an Indian fighting alongside the colonials.


The Puritans who were opposed to maypoles had no objection to planting King Philip’s head on a pole in Plymouth so that passing Indians with thoughts of rebellion would recognize that the wages of rebellion were death. They got the point. The tribes that had joined with King Philip surrendered and, like the Indians who had rebelled in the Pequot War, were sold into slavery. The end of the war meant the end of fear for the colonists—at least with regard to the Indians. Now all they had to worry about were the papists of New France, against whom they nurtured constant dreams of conquest.




Bacon’s Rebellion


In Virginia, the desired imperial acquisition was not yet Canada, but the vast western frontier—a frontier made dangerous by Indians; Indians who in their warfare made no distinction between combatant and noncombatant; and the colonists and frontiersmen responded in kind. Still, the governor of Virginia, Sir William Berkeley, took the well-balanced, tolerant, English view that a distinction should be made between friendly Indians and hostiles. Frontiersmen found this distinction too subtle and were early exponents of the theory that the only good Indian is a dead Indian.


The frontiersmen, being common people, needed a leader. The aristocratic Nathaniel Bacon stepped forward and became their demagogue, rallying them against the effete, elitist liberalism of Governor Berkeley—though in fact the elderly governor (he was now nearly seventy) had been an Indian fighter himself, albeit one who thought it was important to distinguish friend from foe.


His cousin, Nathaniel Bacon, had no time for such pussyfooting. There was power and influence to be gained in the colony by serving as a tribune of the people and urging Indian extermination. Of particular moment were members of the Doeg Indian tribe who had attacked a plantation, alleging that the planter had not paid his debts. In retaliation, the colonists struck back, and with typical accuracy attacked the wrong tribe—in this case, the Susquehannock. The Susquehannocks retaliated. And Governor Berkeley, hoping to stave off a full-scale Indian war, dispatched Colonel John Washington (great-grandfather of George Washington) and an army of militia—which swelled to 1,000 men when reinforced by militiamen from Maryland—to investigate. Under flag of truce, the chiefs of the Susquehannocks declared their innocence of any wrongdoing. The militia officers refused to believe them and ordered their arrest. They were taken away and immediately killed by their colonial guards. This act of brutality and idiocy (it is uncertain who issued the order) led to a six-week siege of the Susquehannocks’ palisaded village. The Indians effectively picked off militia pickets, and the siege ended with the Indians’ escape.


The result, in January 1676, was that Virginia’s western frontier was aflame with Indian raids. Not just small farmers, but plantation owners withdrew for safety. Among those whose plantation was struck (his overseer was killed) was Nathaniel Bacon. Bacon had been a tearaway at Cambridge University, and once he was married, his father happily bade him farewell to Virginia, in the long tradition of dumping troublesome heirs into the colonies. In Virginia, Bacon’s birth, connections, and wealth quickly gained him a place of prominence—indeed, made him one of three councilors to the governor. Black-tempered, imperious, impetuous, and anti-Indian, he took command of the local militia, and in yet another act of murderous incompetence killed the chief of a friendly tribe that he (wrongly) accused of harboring rebellious Susquehannocks.


The Susquehannocks, meanwhile, approached Governor Berkeley with a proposal for peace. They had had their revenge; they asked now only for payment to compensate them for the colonists’ crimes. Governor Berkeley was inclined to consider this a reasonable proposal; he did not want Virginia to suffer what the New England colonies were suffering with King Philip’s War. So he disbanded his militia force, recalled the House of Burgesses to discuss peace terms, and forbade the sale of gunpowder and ammunition to the Indians. As a further defensive measure, Governor Berkeley asked the frontier settlers to gather within the vicinity of Jamestown. To Berkeley’s mind, this offered the settlers protection from Indian attacks and kept the settlers from murdering or otherwise annoying the Indians. To further insulate the colonists, he began building a network of forts to provide a buffer between the two peoples. Moreover, from now on, he declared, the governor and his selected representatives would handle trade with the Indians so that there would be no commercial misunderstandings, and no militia force was to be engaged except on the governor’s order.


This did not go down well with the frontiersmen, who saw it as a gubernatorial power grab, a catastrophic and unnecessary sacrificing of their interests to those of the Indians (and of Berkeley), and a clear favoring of Berkeley’s wealthy friends over the common settler. Bacon, whom Berkeley denied a militia command, privately bankrolled his own group of Indian fighters to the huzzahs of the frontiersmen, and thus began Bacon’s Rebellion against the authority of the governor.


Bacon’s war-fighting was of a piece with his earlier efforts. First, he engaged the Occaneechee tribe to attack the Susquehannocks—which they did, to bloody effect. Then he led his own men against the Occaneechees, slaughtering them and burning down their huts (with Indian families inside). Bacon’s strategy and tactics were guided not by murderous whimsy, but by a conscious effort to instigate war between the tribes. This, he reckoned, was the quickest way to dispense with all the Indians. And to the common man, he was right, a hero, and a military genius. To Governor Berkeley, he was an intransigent rebel who must needs be brought to heel. Berkeley called him “Oliver Bacon” after Oliver Cromwell, the unpopular (in Virginia) rebel against the Crown of England.


Though he was officially branded a traitor, Henrico County elected Bacon to the House of Burgesses. He traveled to Jamestown with a company of armed men to take up his seat. The governor responded with cannon fire meant to kill, not to salute, the new member. Bacon tried to withdraw under cover of darkness but was captured by the governor’s men. The next day, Berkeley appeared before the House, made the case for honoring peaceful overtures from the Indians, and then, in a coup de théâtre, had Bacon brought to the floor of the House. There Berkeley asked Bacon to acknowledge his guilt of disobedience and to renew his allegiance to himself as governor. Magnanimous in victory, Berkeley pronounced that he (and by the governor’s authority, God) forgave Bacon. He even mentioned the possibility of a military commission. So all should have been well.


But it was not. Bacon wielded more power with the burgesses than Berkeley did. His measures were the ones voted through, the governor’s were undone, and war with the Indians accelerated to include most every tribe in Virginia. Berkeley distrusted the successful Bacon and never signed his commission papers. His failure to do so roused another rebellion, with angry frontiersmen marching on Jamestown to get justice for their hero. Berkeley met Bacon and demanded that they settle the affair like gentlemen, with swords drawn. Bacon dismissed that option and instead, by threat of force, compelled Berkeley to sign the commission papers; immediately thereafter, he was off to fight the Indians again.


Berkeley tried to raise an army of his own, but even his supporters believed that fighting the Indians was mete and just, while fighting a fellow Virginia settler and an elected member of the House of Burgesses was folly. Bacon learned of Berkeley’s scheme and drew up a declaration that the governor was guilty of various wrongs against the commonwealth. He cajoled the burgesses into endorsing the indictment—it must be said, against their better judgment—and thus began a two-front war. Bacon resumed his fight with the Indians, but now also offered a military challenge to the governor. In the classic link between highest and lowest, Governor Berkeley offered indentured servants their freedom and liberation from taxes if they took up arms on his behalf. They did, and the governor regained Jamestown, only to then have it besieged by Bacon, who offered indentured servants the same bribe of freedom (including freedom for black slaves) if they rallied to him.


Bacon took the city and set it aflame (at night, so that its shock value would be the greater), and to finish his victory he set about plundering the estates of the governor’s supporters. The plundering stopped when Bacon, debilitated by sickness, died in October 1676. Governor Berkeley was back in command, and he mopped up those few who refused to submit. The rebellion was over.


The consequences, however, were not. Troops arrived from England. Their officers’ investigation concluded that there was plenty of blame to go around for the rebellion. Bacon was surely a rebel, but his cause gained support because many of his grievances against the governor were well founded. The Crown supported the governor’s efforts for peace with the Indians, thought it shocking and ludicrous that the settlers should fight friendly Indians, and considered it absurd that they should refuse taxes to pay for wars against hostile Indians—a problem that would arise again after the French and Indian War and lead to the unpleasantness of 1776. At the same time, the Crown found fault with the governor’s tax regime, which was high even before the Indian Wars, and with the high salaries drawn by Berkeley’s administration. In addition, the Crown held Berkeley responsible for alienating the people so that only a small fraction of the colony supported him. The Crown offered amnesty to the rebels and recalled Berkeley to England. It was a typically fair-minded and honest English audit of the situation, a situation that illustrated that the colonies were already well versed in self-government and that the Crown intervened only—and then lightly, as a sort of referee—when the Marquess of Queensbury rules, to use an anachronistic metaphor, were not observed in colonial political disputes.


In the meantime, English settlements continued to expand. South Carolina pushed—that is, fought—against Indians and the Floridian outpost of imperial Spain. Frontiersmen pressed west. But the great challenge was in the north, in New France. The governor-general of New France, Louis de Buade, the Comte de Frontenac, saw Quebec as “the future capital of a great empire.” The Anglo-Americans regarded that empire as their own, and the French as interlopers on their continent. Conquering Canada remained an American priority for more than a century.







The Rivals


The great North American struggle between France and England was a second hundred years’ war, spanning King William’s War (1689–97), Queen Anne’s War (1702–13), King George’s War (1744–48), the French and Indian War (1754–63), and even the American War of Independence (1775–83). The Indians, the Iroquois especially, were central to the first four of these wars—indeed, they were wedged directly between the European combatants.


In the south, there were other Indian wars. The most important for English settlers were the wars in the Carolinas: the Tuscarora War (1711–15) in North Carolina, which led to the tribe’s defeat and exile north to become the sixth nation of the Iroquois Confederation; and the Yamasee War (1715–17) in South Carolina, which almost drove white settlers from the colony—until they formed an alliance with the Cherokee and the colony of Virginia against the Yamasee. The French had their own skirmishes with hostile Indians throughout the American interior from Alabama to Canada. But the geographical pivot that determined the fate of empires was the Ohio Valley.


If you look at a map of the United States and trace the Allegheny and Blue Ridge mountains, you can see how they form a natural barrier. England’s colonists were on the coastal side of that barrier and numbered, by 1754, a million and a quarter settlers. France made claims to the entire interior, via its voyageurs and fur traders who plied the rivers west of the Alleghenies. The white population of French North America was only about 80,000 people, but they were 80,000 mostly single men and fighters, allied with fierce Indians. America’s colonists, naturally, refused to recognize French claims to the American wilderness. The Americans already had dreams of a continental empire—dreams that included not just land to settle, but land on which to speculate and make money, land that would make the colonies grow in power and wealth. England was willing to spill its soldiers’ blood to achieve these ambitions.


The first French and Indian wars were sideshows of European conflicts, but important enough for those involved. King William’s War and Queen Anne’s War (the American fronts of the War of the League of Augsburg and the War of Spanish Succession respectively) followed much the same scenario: French and Indian massacres in New England and, in response, American sieges of Canadian settlements. In Queen Anne’s War, Britain acquired Newfoundland, Hudson Bay, and Acadia, and the fighting extended to South Carolina’s attacks on Spanish Florida, where the Americans destroyed Catholic mission stations and enslaved the Christian Indians.


In 1733, in the interregnum between Queen Anne’s and King George’s wars, Georgia was founded by General James Oglethorpe, a military man turned philanthropist. Oglethorpe prudently encouraged Scotch settlers (always good fighters), made alliances with the Cherokees against the Spanish in Spanish Florida, and provided a second chance in his new colony for men and women freed from debtors’ prison in England.


The War of Jenkins’ Ear (1739–42)—so named because of the parliamentary display of the allegedly Spanish-severed ear of merchant sea captain Robert Jenkins—extended to Georgia, because the war involved a British declaration of war against Spain (and therefore Spain’s colonies in Florida and points south). It even led to a British and American joint assault on Cartagena, Colombia. The colonials, both New England and southern, contributed an entire regiment of between 3,000 and 4,000 men for the campaign.10 Unfortunately, they were defeated—as much by yellow fever as by the Spanish. General Oglethorpe himself battled the Spanish in Georgia and Florida with his Highland Scotch, South Carolinian, and Indian recruits. He could not defeat the Spanish, and they could not obliterate, as they desired to do, the British colonies of Georgia and South Carolina. War’s end left the Spanish ensconced in Florida and France holding Louisiana. But England was obviously the coming force.


King George’s War—which followed two years later and was, along with the War of Jenkins’ Ear, absorbed into the War of Austrian Succession, (1740–48)—was but a bridge to the cataclysm of the French and Indian War proper (the Seven Years’ War). A contemporary observer, the writer Horace Walpole, in his history of King George II, noted of the beginning of the Seven Years’ War that the “volley fired by a young Virginian in the backwoods of America set the world on fire.”11 That lighter of the global powder keg was the twenty-three-year-old George Washington.


Washington had been a working surveyor from his teenage years and had recently become a major landowner through his inheritance of Mount Vernon. He was tall and powerfully built, with a stolid, determined demeanor that came from the challenges of outdoor life on the frontier. He had the pride and caution of a man seeking to improve himself, an American gentleman seeking parity among more polished gentlemen. And he was a military man—as potentially every able-bodied male was—raised among military men. His half-brother Lawrence, who became his guardian, had served in the campaign against Cartagena. Lawrence Washington’s estate, Mount Vernon (later inherited by George), was named after the admiral who had led the assault at Cartagena, Admiral Edward “Old Grog” Vernon.


Coming from an established landowning family, and with his extensive experience of the frontier, Washington was chosen as an imperial agent of Virginia Governor Robert Dinwiddie, who was eager to get the French out of what are now Ohio and parts of Pennsylvania. In the scramble for land, the governor wanted the Ohio Valley for Virginians. The French refused to budge, and in the spring of 1754, the French captured a fort that the British were trying to establish near what is today Pittsburgh. The French built a much larger fort, which they named Fort Duquesne.


Lieutenant Colonel George Washington of the Virginia Regiment was on the march to reinforce the British outpost when he learned of the disaster. He took his men fifty miles short of Fort Duquesne, to Great Meadows, Pennsylvania. Here was fired a shot that was heard as far away as India, if not around the world. Washington and his mixed force of Virginians and Indians sprang an ambush on a small French detachment led by Ensign Joseph Coulon de Villiers de Jumonville. Washington relished his first engagement, writing, “I heard the bullets whistle, and, believe me there is something charming in the sound.”12 Only one American was killed and three wounded, to more than ten Frenchmen dead and more than twenty captured. The French ensign was among the dead, or would be after the leader of Washington’s Indians approached the wounded Jumonville, split open his skull, and washed his hands with the ensign’s brains before going on to the scalping. Washington led his men and prisoners back to Great Meadow, where he hastily built—on ill-chosen, low, and marshy ground—the marvelously named Fort Necessity.


To the French, Washington’s ambush was an unjustifiable massacre and murder. Coming to avenge it was the ensign’s brother. With a force outnumbering Washington’s by more than two to one, he forced Washington’s surrender of Fort Necessity and compelled his signature on a document affirming that Jumonville had been murdered. Washington later explained away this embarrassment as being due to his ignorance of French.13 On 4 July 1754, Washington led his men on a miserable march home.


In 1755, Major General Edward Braddock arrived from England. His mission: avenge Washington, drive the French from the Ohio Valley, and defeat them in Canada—even though France and England were not officially at war, a formality that was delayed until 1756.


Braddock personally led the expedition to attack the French at Fort Duquesne, taking with him as his aide George Washington. Braddock, sixty, had served in the army since he was fifteen, and he knew how to mount a campaign, though Washington noted Braddock’s ignorance of America and Indian fighting, and his choleric refusal to take American advice. Still, the campaign was an impressive affair. Axe men leveled trees, and engineers created roads so that Braddock’s vast retinue of 150 Conestoga wagons and 1,400 men—which included 2 British (Irish) regiments, 450 Virginia militiamen, and Indian allies—could advance, albeit slowly, through the wilderness. He was prudent, too, employing scouts and flankers, and had another 500 men marching in reserve. But Braddock did not fight like an Indian, and that would be his downfall.


The French sent a much smaller force—fewer than 1,000 men; two-thirds of them unreliable Indians,14 the rest Canadian militia and French soldats—to a perfectly placed ambush position along the Monongahela River. But the French Captain Daniel Liénard de Beaujeu, dressed in Indian buckskin, inadvertently marched straight into Braddock’s advance, only about seven miles from Fort Duquesne. The initial British volleys met their mark, leaving Captain Beaujeu among the dead and sending the Canadian militiamen fleeing. The French and Indians, however, did not flee. They plunged into the surrounding forest, taking cover in the dense foliage, and fired into the red-coated ranks of the British regiments and the blue-coated ranks of the Virginia militia.


The British had discipline, but it is hard to fight an unseen foe. Some of the Virginians charged into the forest to meet the enemy hand to hand, but friendly fire soon made that too dangerous; others sought cover themselves; still others simply fled. Only the British preferred to fight in the open—or were forced to by their officers, angrier at indiscipline than fearful of crackling French and Indian musket fire. British troops were aligned in firing lines along the road; some, in massed ranks, marched after the invisible enemy, into woods that reverberated with the Indians’ blood-chilling war cries and the fearful snap of musket balls clipping foliage, and men. Among those furiously rebuking the troops who tried to break and run or take cover was General Braddock. He and his horse-borne officers were the easiest targets of all, relentlessly picked off by the French and Indians. More than 60 British and American officers—better than two-thirds of those present—were killed or wounded, as were all but 459 of the 1,400 other ranks.


No amount of encouragement, as Washington saw to his disgust, could now prevent a rout—a rout sped by Indian scalping parties who preyed on the wounded and burned at the stake some of the prisoners they captured. Braddock himself was mortally wounded. Courageous throughout the fighting and the retreat—five horses were shot from beneath him (two were shot from beneath Washington)—Braddock confessed his surprise, “Who would have thought it?” He died two days after the battle, his final words those of a gallant officer: “Another time we shall know how better to deal with them.”15 The battle did indeed offer a bloody lesson. But in the short term, the entire campaign, which began in such splendor—and which seemed on the verge of success, with troops and artillery only seven miles from Fort Duquesne—ended as a catastrophe, and as another nightmare retreat for Washington.













CHAPTER 2 Wolfe’s Triumph and Pontiac’s Rebellion



Braddock’s disaster was typical of British military history—first the calamitous defeat, then the campaign to stunning victory led, preferably, by a memorable commander. That would hold true in the French and Indian War as well. Assisting the British, of course, were the colonials. George Washington was given command of Virginia’s troops and spent much of his wartime service again on the frontier, fighting Indians, joining in the capture of Fort Duquesne in 1758, and serving under the command of General John Forbes of the British army.


But for most Americans, the French and Indian War (or Seven Years’ War) meant defending the family farm from French and Indian raids. Otherwise, life went on as usual. Colonial traders, in the true Yankee spirit, even kept up their trade with their ostensible enemies, the French Canadians. Major combat operations were left to British regulars.


The British army that fought the war on the colonists’ behalf was grappling with France across the globe. The Seven Years’ War stretched from Canada to the Caribbean, from the European continent to India and even the Philippines. The man guiding America’s destiny sat in an office in London. He was a veteran of “the Blues” (the King’s Own Regiment of Horse), a member of Parliament known as “the Great Commoner,” and during the war he was secretary of state, holding Churchillian power and portfolio. He was William Pitt, the Elder, later the first Earl of Chatham. He looked to win North America and India for Britain and to defeat Britain’s combined enemies on the continent of Europe: France, Austria, Russia, Sweden, and eventually Spain. With Prussia as his sole European ally, he succeeded.


Our story involves only one front of this global war, but it was a front with heroism and drama enough. After Braddock’s defeat, the Indians—save for the Five Nations of the Iroquois, who wavered but leant most often, by tradition, to the British—chose what they saw as the winning side, the French. And at first it appeared they were right. The British attempted to take Fort Niagara and were repulsed. The Irishman William Johnson—the “Mohawk baronet,” whose friendship with the tribe helped him acquire huge estates—finally gave the British a victory, and won his baronetcy, by defeating the French at Lake George.1 He also built Fort William Henry, but he was defeated in his next engagement farther north on Lake Champlain at Crown Point.


While the British, as a wartime measure, exiled the French Catholic Acadians from their home in Nova Scotia,2 the French continued to chalk up military victories. In 1756 and 1757, the victories went to the Marquis de Montcalm, who captured Fort Oswego (ensuring French domination of Lake Ontario) and then Fort William Henry, where British Lieutenant Colonel George Munro had been left with a holding force of 2,200 men to face Montcalm’s 7,000 troops and Indian allies. Munro’s men dug trenches in front of the fort and defended these, leaving the fort’s walls as a fallback position. Munro’s defense was sufficiently stubborn that Montcalm risked running out of ammunition, and he almost ended the siege and withdrew. An intercepted message from the British, however, telling Munro that he would not be reinforced, changed Montcalm’s mind. He delivered the message to Munro, who capitulated to what he now assumed was the inevitable. The French offered generous terms—the British soldiers and civilians were granted free passage—and Munro accepted them.


Montcalm extracted a promise from his Indians that they would behave themselves, and his officers extended all the courtesies of gentlemanly warfare. But enraged by drink and lack of booty, the Indians went on a rampage of murder—“the massacre of Fort William Henry”—sparing no one, women or children.3 How many people were actually killed is open to wide dispute,4 but what is not disputed is that the French acted quickly and with honor trying to stop the carnage. Perhaps they knew better the danger of their Indian allies, who had inflicted a similar massacre at Fort Oswego the year before. Captain Louis Antoine de Bougainville, for one, seemed to regret having such barbarous allies as the Indians. On the march to Fort William Henry, he wrote this description of his allies: “Indians, naked, black, red, hollowing, bellowing, dancing, singing the war songs, getting drunk, yelling for ‘broth,’ that is to say blood, drawn from 500 leagues away by the smell of fresh human blood and the chance to teach their young men how one carves up a human being destined for the pot. Behold our comrades who, night and day, are our shadows. I shiver at the frightful spectacles which they are preparing for us.”5 One frightful spectacle that left a mark on the Potawatomi tribe came from their warriors digging up British graves to find more scalps. They found them—on corpses infected with smallpox. The disease did what no British guns had to do, eliminating the tribe.




Rogers’ Rangers


Lacking many Indian allies of their own, the British learned to match their field craft—indeed, in many ways to improve upon it. For where the Indian was untrustworthy and lacking in staying power, the Englishman was steady and enduring. It is a myth that the British never adapted from the battlefields of Europe to the North American wilderness. If it were true that the British were so unadaptable, they would never have built the empire that they did, stretching to every conceivable climate and geography: Canada, India, Australia, Malaya, Africa, the Persian Gulf, the Falkland Islands. On the contrary, under the guidance of John Campbell, the fourth Earl of Loudoun, commander in chief of British troops in North America, the redcoats were specifically trained to fire and reload from the prone position and to use forested cover. The first unit of light infantry to be attached to a British regiment was a unit raised during this war. Just as important was the raising of Rogers’ Rangers.


Ranger units were not a new idea. The English had deployed them along the border with Scotland, and the English colonists of North America had used them as an early warning system against Indian attacks. But no ranger unit of the colonial period would match the fame of Rogers’ Rangers. They were founded, under the command of Captain Robert Rogers, as First Company of the New Hampshire Regiment in 1755.


They were frontiersmen, hard men, and as their numbers grew, they even employed such ruffians as Irishmen and Spaniards, to the scandal of Calvinist New England. But they were also valuable men, paid more than a British regular, and at their best they embodied the motto that one of Rogers’s lieutenants, John Stark, gave to New Hampshire: “Live Free or Die.”


The Rangers saw their first action at Crown Point, serving under William Johnson’s command. Johnson was one of the unit’s champions; he valued white men who could match the Indians he so highly esteemed. The Rangers equaled the Indians in stealth, skill with canoe and bateau, scouting, taking prisoners, and killing sentries—and Rogers was not above a little scalping, too. He had his military failures against the French and Indians, who could sometimes beat him at his own game. But he overcame them, in part, by his talent for self-promotion, which maintained his unit’s reputation. More important, his military successes proved that his few men could, through sheer aggression, disrupt and turn back forces far larger than the Rangers. In fact, Rogers’ Rangers are part of an American military tradition that is often overlooked, given the focus on the United States military as an institution that relies on overwhelming firepower and on America’s paramount technological, economic, and industrial might. The truth is Americans have always excelled at small-unit operations, from the days of Indian fighting to the U.S. Army Rangers, Green Berets, and Navy SEALs of today.


The credo of the Rangers is found in the famous litany of Rogers’ Rangers Standing Orders:




	Don’t forget nothing.


	Have your musket clean as a whistle, hatchet scoured, sixty rounds powder and ball, and be ready to march at a minute’s warning.


	When you’re on the march, act the way you would if you was sneaking up on a deer. See the enemy first.


	
Tell the truth about what you see and what you do. There is an army depending on us for correct information. You can lie all you please when you tell other folks about the Rangers, but don’t ever lie to a Ranger or officer.


	Don’t ever take a chance you don’t have to.


	When we’re on the march we march single file, far enough apart so one shot can’t go through two men.


	If we strike swamps, or soft ground, we spread out abreast so it’s hard to track us.


	When we march, we keep moving till dark, so as to give the enemy the least possible chance at us.


	When we camp, half the party stays awake while the other half sleeps.


	If we take prisoners, we keep ’em separate till we have had time to examine them, so they can’t cook up a story between ’em.


	Don’t ever march home the same way. Take a different route so you won’t be ambushed.


	No matter whether we travel in big parties or little ones, each party has to keep a scout 20 yards ahead, 20 yards on each flank, and 20 yards in the rear so that the main body can’t be surprised and wiped out.


	Every night you’ll be told where to meet if surrounded by superior force.


	Don’t sit down and eat without posting sentries.


	Don’t sleep beyond dawn. Dawn’s when the French and Indians attack.


	Don’t cross a river by a regular ford.


	If somebody’s trailing you, make a circle, come back onto your own tracks, and ambush the folks that aim to ambush you.


	Don’t stand up when the enemy’s coming against you. Kneel down, lie down, hide behind a tree.


	Let the enemy come till he’s almost close enough to touch. Then let him have it and jump out and finish him up with your hatchet.





At Lord Loudoun’s direction, British officers and noncommissioned officers were sent to the Rangers for training before they were assigned to the newly formed light infantry companies. Though this was all to the good—and proved that American Indian fighters had something to teach British regulars—it did not achieve results quickly enough for Loudoun’s career. Given the accumulation of French victories and English failures, Pitt recalled Loudoun in late 1757 and replaced him as commander in chief with Colonel Jeffrey Amherst, now promoted to “Major-General in America.” It was a fortunate choice. The forty-year-old Amherst had been a soldier since the age of fourteen. The great historian of the British army Sir John Fortescue judged Amherst “the greatest military administrator between Marlborough and Wellington.”6 The key word might be administrator. Amherst was methodical, careful, diplomatic, and fair. His first mission for 1758 was the taking of Louisbourg Harbor at Cape Breton, something Loudoun had failed to achieve.7







Gray’s Elegy


A victory was much needed. The British had just suffered another setback, after 4,000 Frenchmen at Fort Ticonderoga (or Fort Carillon, as the French called it) defeated an assault by 16,000 British troops, including the gallant Black Watch Regiment (the 42nd Highlanders) who suffered 50 percent casualties. Amherst would make good their sacrifice. With him was a thirty-one-year-old brigadier general, James Wolfe. Wolfe, like Amherst, had begun his army career young, in his early teens.8 He was carrot-topped, skinny, with a pointed nose and a weak chin, emotionally volatile to the point that some doubted his sanity,9 and in poor health—hardly officer material to look at him. But his father had been a major general, and an uncle was a commissioned officer. Wolfe himself was ambitious and extremely capable. He was an ardent student of the military arts (and humane letters and mathematics) and had seen action on the continent and in Scotland from the age of sixteen. He did not indulge his frail constitution; he pushed it. In his own words: “Better to be a savage of some use than a gentle, amorous puppy, obnoxious to all the world.”10 He had, too, that patriotism—one sees it in Nelson and many other heroes of the British Empire—that disdains all discomforts and even death in the name of duty and heroism. He professed his “utmost desire and ambition is to look steadily upon danger,” that he was eager “to die gracefully and properly when the hour comes,” and that the question is not “what is convenient or agreeable; that service is best in which we are the most useful…. For my part, I am determined never to give myself a moment’s concern about the nature of the duty which His Majesty is pleased to order us upon. It will be a sufficient comfort… to reflect that the Power which has hitherto preserved me may, if it be his pleasure, continue to do so; if not, that is but a few days more or less, and that those who perish in their duty and in the service of their country die honorably.”11 He was, in short, the sort of man produced by a society that values a classical education. It was an education that provided him the moral framework to have that “fear of becoming a mere ruffian and of imbibing the principles of an absolute commander, or giving way insensibly to the temptations of power till I become proud, insolent, and intolerable….”12 Instead of that, Wolfe became daring.


To make the landing at Louisbourg Harbor, the British had to avoid fierce artillery fire from the French warships in the harbor and overcome the feuding band of French regulars, troupes de la marine (Canadian regulars), Canadian militia, landed sailors and marines, and related forces, who manned the fortress and tried to block all landing sites. Wolfe’s men in their landing boats were forced back. But Major George Scott of the light infantry secured a foothold, held it against a French force that attempted to repel him (and that outnumbered him more than six to one), and opened the path for the British advance. Of the ten men who first came ashore with Major Scott, five were dead, and Scott’s own uniform bore three (nonmortal) bullet holes.


With the men ashore, the siege began and dragged on, as sieges do, for more than six weeks (June–July 1758). There were gentlemanly interludes—Amherst sent Madame Drucour (wife of Louisbourg’s governor) pineapples, she sent him champagne—but the fighting was very real. Madame Drucour could even be seen on the battlements, helping the French artillery fire their cannons; French troopers, allegedly liquored up with brandy, charged the British lines shouting, “Kill! Kill!” And the British meted out Indian mercy to the French Indians—that is, none. Rangers scalped them.


The outcome of the siege was inevitable, especially after the French warships fled. Louisbourg, a major French port, was surrendered; and Amherst, under orders from Pitt, destroyed it. Wolfe was sent to demolish other French settlements, clearing the way for a British assault on Quebec. The British made it clear that European conventions would not restrain them; this time they were going to evict France from the continent.


Louisbourg was the turning point, setting in motion a series of British victories. First came Lieutenant Colonel John Bradstreet’s destruction of the French supply depot at Fort Frontenac. Then came the campaign against Fort Duquesne. The expedition was launched from Pennsylvania, despite the vehement opposition of George Washington, now a full colonel. Washington patriotically insisted that the march be made from Virginia, following the trail his men had cleared with General Braddock in 1755. Instead, British Brigadier General John Forbes—leading a force of Scotch Highlanders and colonial regiments, including the Royal American Regiment13—ordered another massive feat of engineering. He commanded the building of a road over mountains, through swamps, and into hostile territory, where a detachment of Highlanders and colonial troops were ambushed and badly mauled. Forbes’s army reached Fort Duquesne in time to hear it blown up by the retreating French. A ghastly palisade of severed Highlander heads, kilts strung beneath, marked the final path to the fort.14 Forbes’s campaign was the last of 1758; 1759 would bring further victories, with Pitt setting out the objectives for Amherst. Brigadier General John Prideaux helped deliver the first. With Iroquois allies who abandoned him until the battle was won and scalps could be taken, he captured Fort Niagara for the British—or actually, Prideaux’s second in command, the Mohawk baronet Sir William Johnson, did after General Prideaux’s head was blown apart in a friendly-fire accident. Amherst then captured Fort Carillon (Fort Ticonderoga) and seized and built a fort at Crown Point. The French were in retreat and could only hope to delay the methodically successful British commander.


With Amherst were Rogers’ Rangers. Lieutenant Colonel Rogers’s narrow escapes from death and the ferocity with which his men fought earned him the Indian nickname of Wobi Madaondo, or White Devil. The White Devil notched further notoriety into his musket barrel on this campaign when he was sent against the Abanaki Indians at their village of St. Francis. Amherst’s orders to Rogers were “to chastise those savages with some severity.”15 This he did, evading French ships and pursuers, raiding the village—where he found the Indians in a drunken stupor, although a deserter had warned them of the impending raid—and burning it to the ground. The death toll for the Indians has been estimated between 65 and 200.16 Also killed was the French mission priest. Unbeknownst to Rogers, a group of Rangers, under the direction of Sergeant Benjamin Bradley, raided the mission church for treasure. While Rogers and his men quickly made their escape from Indians pouring out of the forests after them, Bradley’s men made a wrong turn. They intended to make their way to Concord, New Hampshire, Bradley’s hometown, but found themselves lost in the White Mountains. There, as if accursed, they disappeared along with their treasure, which included a ten-pound silver Madonna. Some of the corpses were later discovered, but the Madonna lies lost, still waiting to be unearthed.


But of more immediate importance was the summit of the main campaign: the city of Quebec, flanked on either side by the wide Saint Lawrence and the thin Saint Charles rivers. For this operation, Amherst chose Wolfe. British naval vessels, dodging French fireships sent to ignite them, navigated toward the city along a route the French thought impossible, bearing a combat force of 9,000 men.17 The British landed successfully, and a siege of bombardment began. Wolfe wanted to bring the French to battle in the open. To goad them out, he rained destruction on civilians, Quebec’s cathedral, and all other points in range of his artillery, and sent raiding parties against French outposts. But the French trusted to geography, to the bluffs on which the city was perched and which they hoped would make Quebec unassailable.


The French believed that if they could last until winter they would be safe. They had well-positioned forward defenses on the high ground leading up to the city on its eastern side—where the British had landed—that they assumed could hold the British at arm’s length. On 31 July 1759, a frustrated Brigadier General Wolfe attempted a breakthrough, sending British Grenadiers and Royal Americans up through the mudflats (exposed at low tide) and against these French positions. The first landing group charged before the other units could assemble. Musket fire cut them down. Then a sudden rainstorm turned the mud into a slippery mess and rendered sodden muskets useless. The British and Americans retreated, having suffered more than 443 casualties, of whom nearly half were killed.


Though Wolfe had sent destruction into the city and devastated the countryside and its farms, it was the British who were in trouble. A third of his men had come down with fever, and he himself was terribly ill. His officers doubted him. Men were deserting. Uncharacteristically unsure of himself—and even considering a retreat—he asked his three subordinate brigadier generals for their plans. They suggested an attack farther up the river, past the forward defenses that currently had them pinned down, landing on Quebec’s southwestward side. Wolfe agreed to the plan but developed the details of the assault himself without further consultation.


On reconnaissance he discovered a narrow footpath, which the French had tried to camouflage, up the stark bluffs that led to the Plains of Abraham behind the city.18 In the days leading up to his planned attack, Wolfe sent ships on aimless journeys up and down the river to distract the French from thinking such movement unusual. On 12 September 1759, he ordered, as a feint, a naval attack and mock landing at the downstream point of Beauport. That night, ships carrying the real assault force headed upstream.


Wolfe’s conduct on this night would make him one of Britain’s military immortals. He recited Gray’s “Elegy in a Country Churchyard,” which includes the line: “The paths of glory lead but to the grave.” To his brigadiers he said, “Gentlemen, I would rather have written those lines than take Quebec.”


Take Quebec he would, through the luck of the brave. French sentries were expecting a supply boat to come and so were not surprised when the waters stirred. They called out a challenge, and a French-speaking Highland officer named Simon Fraser responded that they were Frenchmen from La Reine Regiment. Challenged by a second sentry, another Highlander and a former Jacobite, Captain Donald McDonald, called out in French that they were a supply convoy. The Scotties saw them through, and Wolfe’s force landed successfully at Anse-au-Foulon (or “Wolfe’s Cove”). Wolfe and his men charged up the steep footpath, musket balls chasing the few French who guarded the approach. On the crest of the bluff, known as the Plains of Abraham, the pipers skirled and the British troopers gathered for their march on Quebec, whose defenders were cannonading against the feint at Beauport.


The gifted French commander, the Marquis de Montcalm, immediately recognized that because his artillery batteries and much of his army were deployed against the feint, Quebec was in jeopardy, and if Quebec fell, so too could the empire of New France. With more than two-thirds of his men engaged against the wrong enemy, he had only 4,500 quickly deployable troops at hand, roughly the same number as Wolfe. But where Wolfe had regulars, Montcalm had to rely heavily on less reliable units of Indians and Canadians. Still, he decided to attack and sweep the British from the Plains.


Had Montcalm waited, 3,000 French troops led by Colonel Louis Antoine de Bougainville could have hit Wolfe’s thin red line from the rear. But the marquis thought he must act instantly. Bougainville could not possibly arrive from his positions in the north before the afternoon. In the meantime, Montcalm was outflanked. He must act. He acted so quickly he did not even bother to disengage the troops at Beauport.


The British on the Plains of Abraham were already under fire from French sharpshooters and cannon. Wolfe had his men lie on the grass, though he, of course, did not. Strolling behind them, offering encouragement, he was unfazed by shot and shell—or by an officer falling wounded beside him. When the French formed for the attack, Wolfe arranged his men in a two-deep line, telling them to hold their fire. The French marched—regulars to the center, Canadians on the flanks—and fired along the way. The British remained steady and unwavering. With the French only forty yards distant, the order was given—“Fire!”—and British musketry raked the French and Canadians to devastating effect. The British historian Sir John Fortescue wrote that the volley was “the most perfect ever fired on any battlefield, which burst forth as if from a single monstrous weapon, from end to end of the British line.”19 “Fire!” A second crackling volley crashed into the French. Their lines torn, the survivors fled. “Charge!” The British, with bayonet and broadsword, leapt after them.


Wolfe—handkerchief tied around his wrist, which had been shattered by a French musket ball—led the Louisbourg Grenadiers.20 He was shot again, but he pressed on; a third wound, this one to his chest, brought him down. He was not yet dead, though he knew death was coming. An officer told him, “The enemy, sir. Egad, they give way everywhere!” Wolfe gave further orders to ensure the French defeat and then uttered his last: “Now God be praised, I will die in peace!”21 His life ended exactly as he would have scripted it.


Also dying was the Marquis de Montcalm, the great gentleman warhorse of New France. He was shot at the gates to the city, riding in the midst of the troops fleeing from the Plains of Abraham. He held his saddle, dismissed the mortal wound as a trifle, but was taken away to recover.


The French troops behind Quebec’s rear walls outnumbered the British attackers two to one. But the governor-general of Quebec, the Marquis de Vandreuil, was no Montcalm. In apparent panic, he ordered a retreat from the city.


A French officer reported that the “loss of the Marquis de Montcalm robbed his successors of their senses, and they thought of nothing but flight; such was their fear…. The army abandoned the camp in such disorder that the like was never known.” A Jacobite Scotchman who served with the French added: “It was not a retreat but an abominable flight, with such disorder and confusion that, had the English known it, three hundred men sent after us would have been sufficient to cut all our army to pieces.”22


Among those abandoned in the city was Montcalm. Told that he was dying, the marquis replied, “So much the better. I am happy that I shall not live to see the surrender of Quebec.” Montcalm wrote to British Brigadier General George Townsend—who had taken command after Wolfe’s death and the wounding of Brigadier General Robert Monckton—telling him: “Monsieur, the humanity of the English sets my mind at peace concerning the fate of the French prisoners and the Canadians. Feel toward them as they have caused me to feel. Do not let them perceive that they have changed masters. Be their protector as I have been their father.”23 That the English would do. In fact, they did it so successfully that, in the long term, they alienated the American colonists, especially the Calvinists in New England, who did not understand leniency to papists.


Those unhappy days, however, were still in the future. For now, it was victory, a victory that had fulfilled Wolfe’s final orders, which read, in part: “A vigorous blow struck at this juncture may determine the fate of Canada…. The officers and men will remember what their country expects of them, and what a determined body of soldiers inured to war are capable of doing.”24 What they were capable of doing was changing the history of an entire continent, or, as a Protestant minister in Boston, Jonathan Mayhew, divined, they offered the American colonies the heaven-sent opportunity to become “a mighty empire.”25


The troops occupying Quebec now had to endure a Canadian winter. Some took shelter in the city’s Ursuline convent, where Montcalm had been buried in a shell hole. The nuns knit stockings for the Highlanders, nursed the sick and wounded at the hospital, and referred to the British as the “most moderate of all conquerors.” Lieutenant John Knox returned the compliment, noting that the nuns were, as a rule, “young, handsome, courteous, rigidly reserved, and very respectful.”26


Brigadier General James Murray, in command of the city after the departure of Brigadier Monckton to New York and Brigadier Townsend to England, ruled true to the gentlemanly code27 of fair play, and there was little animosity between the French and the British. The British troopers even cooperated in bringing in the harvest—or what was left of it. The British remarked on the cheerfulness of Quebec’s inhabitants, and the carefree ladies of the city happily and diligently taught the befuddled British officers French.


The French army was less accommodating, planning a winter campaign—which didn’t happen—to retake Quebec, skirmishing with winter foragers, and fighting the British again on the Plains of Abraham in the melting knee-deep snows of a Canadian spring. Though greatly outnumbered, the gallant Murray decided, like Montcalm, to fight in the open. The only real beneficiaries of this encounter—which ended in an inconsequential but bloody draw, with the British losing a thousand killed or wounded and the French perhaps an equal number—were the Indians. They had by now perfected the tactic of not charging the battlefield until the fighting was over; then they could scalp the dead and wounded, friend and foe, without undue risk. They and the French were finally driven off by the British navy, which was beginning to rule Canada’s major rivers as Britain ruled the waves. With the breaking of the ice floes, the navy was finally able to resupply Brigadier Murray’s beleaguered garrison. Only one-third of his original occupying force was available for active duty. Combat and scurvy had killed or hospitalized many of the rest.


Still, Murray brought his men out to join General Jeffrey Amherst for the last great campaign—to take Montreal. Amherst led 10,000 men from Oswego, Murray came from Quebec, and Lieutenant Colonel William Haviland, commanding 3,000 men, embarked from Crown Point. The careful planner Amherst was thrilled at the professionalism that allowed three armies to cut separate paths through the vast Canadian wilderness to arrive at a single point, Montreal, at a coordinated time. The French were certainly impressed. They agreed to surrender the entirety of Canada. The date was 8 September 1760.


Because the French and Indian War was part of the European Seven Years’ War, the surrender of Canada was not the final word. This came with the Peace of Paris on 10 February 1763, which formalized the French capitulation of North America. For the European powers, more notable than the fall of New France were their own casualties. An astonishing 850,000 men had died fighting—mostly in Europe—during the course of this world war.28 The great prize to the east, India, had fallen to the British. No power could match British strength on the seas. No power could challenge her imperial reach. But power did not bring peace. The French might have had enough fighting, but the Indians had not.







The Conspiracy of Pontiac


The British came with forts and settlers; the French had limited themselves to missionaries, voyageurs, and traders. While there were some 82,000 Frenchmen in Canada, and a modest string of them down the Mississippi to Louisiana, Britain’s American colonies had a combined population of 1.3 million people—people acquisitive for land. Among the real estate speculators was George Washington, who in 1767 wrote to Captain William Crawford that “any person therefore who neglects the present oppertunity of hunting out good Lands [in the West] & in some measure Marking & distinguishing them for their own (in order to keep others from settling them) will never regain it.”29 Washington advised this in contravention of British policy, which, he knew, was to conciliate the Indians by limiting western expansion. So he advised Crawford to use hunting expeditions as a cover for finding land. Benjamin Franklin, another practical man, was deeply involved in such expansion, acting as an adviser to the Vandalia Company, a large western land development investment group.


The Indians recognized in Washington and Franklin—and in the colonists’ expansionist sentiments—a terrible threat to their independence and way of life. The French might want to convert them to Catholicism, but the Americans thought them benighted heathen to be brushed aside; the French offered the Indians trade and annual gifts, but British General Amherst was more judgmental. Indelibly appalled by the Indians’ savagery during the French and Indian War, he forbade all trade with the Indians outside of British forts and ended their annual gift subsidies, depriving the Indians of new guns, ammunition, and liquor.


Indian medicine men prophesied for war, and Ottawa Chief Pontiac took up the call. Formerly an ally of the French, Pontiac built a new Indian alliance of Ottawa, Chippewa, Delaware, Erie, Huron, Kickapoo, Miami, Mingo, Mississauga, Ojibwa, Potawatomi, Sauk, Seneca, and Shawnee. His goal was not America for the Indians, but America for the French—because these were white men with whom the Indians could live, and whose firearms and other trade benefited the tribes. So began Pontiac’s conspiracy.


Pontiac and several dozen warriors entered Fort Detroit (on the pretense of performing a tribal dance) and gauged the fort’s defenses. Pontiac told Major Henry Gladwin, commander of the fort, that he would return with his tribe in order to further good relations—by which Pontiac meant that his braves would smuggle weapons beneath their blankets and slaughter the white men. The attack was set for 8 May 1763.


An Indian maiden, in the mold of Pocahontas, warned the British commander of Pontiac’s intended treachery, and Major Gladwin readied his defenses. He had 130 men under arms (and roughly half that many civilians who could be mobilized), six artillery pieces, and two small ships that could offer covering support from the Detroit River. Pontiac, realizing that his plan had been exposed, ordered his braves to kill outlying English settlers, but to spare the French.30 Pontiac then asked Major Gladwin to send officers with whom he could negotiate; Gladwin sent two, and Pontiac seized them as hostages.


Pontiac’s warriors encircled Fort Detroit, cutting it off from outside support. Responding to Pontiac’s call for rebellion, insurgent Indians stormed a ring of forts along the Great Lakes, from Green Bay, Wisconsin, down through Indiana, Michigan, and Ohio. Fort Pitt (Pittsburgh) and Fort Niagara in New York were besieged. Indian raids made river navigation dangerous. The western frontier of colonial America was aflame with burning arrows and terrorized by Indian hatchets. In two weeks, Pontiac’s Rebellion had every fort from the Ohio Valley to the Great Lakes besieged, captured, or threatened.


But relief was coming for Fort Detroit. Shielded by a covering fog, guided by Robert Rogers, and under cover of Ranger fire support, an expedition under the command of Captain James Dalyell slipped past an attacking party of Indians and into Fort Detroit on 28 July 1763. Three days later, at two in the morning, Captain Dalyell, Rogers, and 250 men prepared for a predawn attack on the Indians. The men stealthily moved out for the Indian camps. The British forces had to cross a wooden bridge over Parent’s Creek (known as “Bloody Run” after this engagement). The Indians—warned by French settlers of the impending attack—waited under cover of the forest. As the British crossed the bridge, the trap was sprung. Indian war howls pierced the night, and musket fire poured into the British. Dalyell and Rogers led units charging uphill into the woods after the enemy, but the Indians melted deeper into the wilderness. Given the threat of ambush, pursuit was too dangerous. Dalyell ordered a withdrawal to the fort, but the Indians were ready for that maneuver, too. The British were ambushed again, and Dalyell was killed. Rogers and his Rangers, however, routed a group of Indian snipers, seized their position, and used it to provide cover fire for the British regulars. When the British were safely withdrawn, Rogers pulled his men out. Two bateaus with swivel cannon firing canister rounds covered his retreat.


Though skirmishes continued along the frontier, Pontiac’s Francophile dreams were crushed when he was informed that France no longer held any ambitions in North America. The Indians had succeeded with lightning tomahawk strikes against unprepared garrisons. But they had no artillery to maintain effective sieges, no European ally to help them, and no answer to massed ranks of disciplined British musketry, such as was on the march. In Pennsylvania and Ohio, British troops led by Colonel Henry Bouquet relieved Fort Pitt at the Battle of Bushy Run and subdued the Shawnee and Delaware tribes.31 The Indians might raid and butcher, but they could not hold and consolidate a position. Nor could they fight off smallpox, after the British gave them smallpox-infected blankets.


Pontiac’s Indian allies made peace with the British. In November, Pontiac withdrew from Detroit and tried to revive the dream of a new French and Indian War. But the French told him to ferme la bouche, and the Indians were apathetic. In 1765, Pontiac ended his rebellion on the understanding that the English were mere leaseholders of Indian-owned land. The British agreed to this distinction confident in the knowledge that it would be meaningless in fact, and in 1766 the Mohawk baronet Sir William Johnson arranged a formal peace treaty with Pontiac and his allies at Fort Ontario. Three years later, a Peoria Indian assassinated the famous chief.


Pontiac’s Rebellion brought echoes of Nathaniel Bacon’s rebellion of a hundred years before. In Pennsylvania, a gang of ruffians known as the Paxton Boys responded to Indian outrages in traditional colonial fashion—lashing out at peaceful, Christianized tribes who happened to be nearby. The British too acted in their traditional fashion—with hopes for a rational, peaceful compromise: in this case, the Proclamation of 1763.


The Proclamation banned colonial settlement west of the Appalachian Mountains, stationed British troops along the frontier to keep the peace, and gave the Mother Country the responsibility for regulating trade with the Indians to reduce Indian-colonist trade friction. The intent was to appease the Indians. It was not the Indians who protested, of course; it was the colonials, who saw their dreams of western trade, empire, and riches being fenced off by redcoats. But as it was British regulars who had largely fought and won the French and Indian War, British regulars who fought Pontiac and his allied tribes, and British taxpayers—whose taxes were fifty times higher than those of the average North American colonist32—who paid the bill for these colonial engagements, American protests were given short shrift.


The spirit behind such as the Paxton Boys would thus be diverted from animosity against the Indians to resentment against those seen as the Indians’ protectors (as well as the protectors of Canadian papists and of imperial rather than strictly American interests)—the British. The Americans had a tradition of reaching for their muskets when they sensed their interests were threatened, but few Britons, if any, worried about war with America. To the British, the interests of economy and peace made the Proclamation sensible legislation. The British were even sensible enough to leave open the prospect of amendment should westward expansion look more inviting in the future.


The colonists, however, were nothing if not self-interested, and the Proclamation of 1763 suited neither their immediate self-interest to be western land barons nor their longer term self-interest of reaching across the continent to create a massive North American empire. John Adams, like many of the leading Founding Fathers, felt, approvingly, that America was building toward becoming a mighty imperial power, greater than the one centered on London:




Soon after the Reformation, a few people came over to the new world for conscience sake. Perhaps this apparently trivial incident may transfer the great seat of empire to America.


It looks likely to me: for if we can remove the turbulent Gallicks, our people, according to the exactest computations, will in another century become more numerous than England itself. Should this be the case, since we have, I may say, all the naval stores of the nation in our hands, it will be easy to obtain mastery of the sea; and then the united force of all Europe will not subdue us. The only way to keep us from setting up for ourselves is to disunite us. Divide et impera.33





The British had subdued the turbulent Gallicks; now America’s elite saw the possibility of an empire of their own.













CHAPTER 3 “Disperse, Ye Rebels!”



Britain lost America by winning the French and Indian War. That was the prediction of a Frenchman, Charles Gravier, the Comte de Vergennes: “Delivered from a neighbor they have always feared, your other colonies will soon discover that they stand no longer in need of your protection. You will call on them to contribute toward supporting the burden which they have helped to bring on you, they will answer by shirking off all dependence.”1


That is exactly what happened. But it was the work of a minority. John Adams estimated that at the beginning of the American War for Independence, one-third of the American colonists were Patriots, one-third were Loyalists, and the remaining third were uncommitted. In other words, in 1776 perhaps two-thirds of Americans thought the war for independence unnecessary or wrong.2


So war was not inevitable, nor, on its merits, did it seem likely. England was the most liberal country of its time. The colonies had been treated with the most lenient of supervision, often described as benign neglect, and the colonials enjoyed a higher standard of living and minuscule taxation compared with the average Englishman. The Americans had a long tradition of self-government given them by the British; and the British had, in the past, rarely interfered with colonial assemblies.


Englishmen were famously devoted to liberty—but the Americans were even more so. With the bureaucracy of London far away, and the untrammeled frontier always beckoning, the pursuit of self-interest was an American hallmark. And Americans could be cussedly independent, as displayed in that most admirable flag, the Gadsden Flag, with its coiled rattlesnake and motto “Don’t tread on me.”3


Ultimately, the American War for Independence happened not because the Americans were oppressed but because they were so free—and Patriots saw no reason to subordinate their interests to those of the Mother Country.




“I Dare Tax America!”


The colonists rightfully hated taxes of any sort. They were, less rightfully, experienced lawbreakers. A good deal of the colonial economy was based on smuggling, which the British had largely tolerated—until now, when the Mother Country had racked up what at the time seemed like an enormous budget deficit, a debt incurred in the course of the French and Indian War.4 As Rudyard Kipling wrote, “Our American colonies, having no French to fear any longer wanted to be free from our control altogether. They utterly refused to pay a penny of the two hundred million pounds the war had cost us; and they equally refused to maintain a garrison of British soldiers…. When our Parliament proposed in 1764 to make them pay a small fraction of the cost of the late war, they called it ‘oppression,’ and prepared to rebel.”5 In short, the American War of Independence was, in the eyes of some Britons, the American War of Ingratitude.


When the British tried to enforce the Navigation Acts against American smuggling, the countdown to war began. To American smugglers, cracking down on smuggling was, of course, an outrage. The outrage spread when Parliament passed the Revenue (or Sugar) Act of 1764, which slashed the molasses duty in half. Given that the old molasses duty was rarely paid at all, an enforced halved duty (enforced by Admiralty courts) was more than some liberty-loving Americans could tolerate. In reaction to American protests, the British repealed the Revenue Act.


The British then tried to raise money with the Stamp Act of 1765, requiring a government stamp on newspapers, legal documents, and other items—a pettifogging act that only a bureaucrat or an economist could love. The British Prime Minister George Grenville explained to Benjamin Franklin that he intended to employ respected Americans rather than British agents as tax collectors and by this prestidigitation make the tax not seem like a foreign exaction. It was, after all, a tax to pay for British troops stationed in America for the Americans’ benefit. Franklin and the colonists thought that with the French defeated by Wolfe and Amherst, they no longer needed British troops to protect them; nevertheless, Franklin suggested names of possible candidates, and his choices were appointed.


It did no good. In Philadelphia and Boston, mobs attacked the houses of the appointed men before a single stamp could be issued. From New York to Charleston, the “Sons of Liberty” bullied and vandalized the Stamp Act into preemptive oblivion. In Virginia, Patrick Henry used the Stamp Act to declare that as Caesar had his Brutus and King Charles I his Cromwell, so too would “some Good American stand up in favor of his country.” When burgesses interrupted Henry with calls of “Treason!” he replied, “If this be treason, make the most of it.”6


Henry proposed the “Virginia Resolves,” seven resolutions, of which the burgesses passed five (though all seven were frequently reproduced). The gist of the resolutions was to declare the Stamp Act void within the colony of Virginia. The withdrawn resolves went further, declaring that Virginians were “bound to yield obedience” solely to “the laws or ordinances of the General Assembly,” which was a virtual declaration of Virginian independence. Also withdrawn was Henry’s resolve declaring “an enemy of His Majesty’s Colony” anyone affirming that His Majesty and Parliament—and not solely the General Assembly of Virginia—could levy taxes on Virginians. One assumes the irony was unintended.


The British parliament responded with its usual leniency and liberality. As opposition to the Stamp Act grew ever hotter, the British parliament repealed it. Parliament insisted that it had every right to impose such taxes on the colonies, but chose not to do so now.


The British government noted the uniform resistance of the colonies, which did not often unite in common cause. It noted the extraordinary claim of the Virginia Resolves that the colonies had the sole and exclusive authority to impose taxes on themselves. And it noted that British troops now had to be diverted from facing down Indians to facing down colonial mobs threatening licensed agents of the Crown. Obviously a fuse had been lit. It could be doused or ignite an explosion.


For King George III what was at issue was a clear matter of principle: the Crown had a right to tax Americans to partially cover the costs of defending North America—surely that was simple enough and no injustice. The king’s prime minister, Lord Grenville, and the chancellor of the exchequer, Charles Townshend, might have had justice on their side—the colonies surely had a duty to be law-abiding—but as practical politicians, they were floundering. If the goal of the parliamentary acts was to lessen Britain’s national debt, they were a colossal failure. The acts had actually increased Britain’s national debt. American recalcitrance had made the cost of enforcing the acts several times the revenue received.


But in repealing the Stamp Act, the Americans had apparently been appeased. The colonists’ immediate reaction was patriotic jubilation. Loyalty to King George III was cheered. William Pitt, who pushed repeal in the House of Commons, was applauded as the Americans’ ever faithful and heroic friend.


But for Charles Townshend, as for King George III, the matter of principle had to be settled, and Townshend had developed a new way to settle it. In the midst of an impressive, hour-long speech, his voice slickly lubricated with a bottle of champagne, Townshend needled Lord Grenville, whose ministry had fallen after the Stamp Act. Grenville barked in reply: “You are cowards, you are afraid of the Americans, you dare not tax America!”


“Fear! Cowards! Dare not tax America! I dare tax America!”


“Dare you tax America? I wish to God I could see it!”


“I will! I will!”7


Townshend’s proud reply was no empty boast powered by bibulousness. He thought he had struck on the expedient to achieve a British victory. He imposed the “Townshend duties” on various goods that Americans imported: glass, tea, paint, paper, and lead.8 He felt prepared to argue first principles with American tax protestors. They had granted Britain’s right to regulate trade across the oceans, for this had always been the case. It was the innovation of “internal” taxation, like the Stamp Act, that was allegedly oppressive.


But like most distinctions of principle when debated before a mass audience, this became a distinction without a difference. Power, will, and statesmanship would decide the outcome, not hoisting the colonists on their own rhetorical petard.9 Townshend had other levers of power beyond arguing sovereign principles. He granted additional rights of search and seizure to his regulators. He put colonial appointees of the Crown on London’s payroll, snipping the influence of colonial legislatures over these officials. As a sweetener, taxes on colonial exports to Britain of grain and whale oil were removed, increasing colonial sales to the Mother Country.


Townshend died before his duties were enforced. The duties’ defenders could notice and tout that, despite every colonial protest, revenues to England did indeed rise thanks to the duties. Moreover, New York had capitulated to the Crown’s demands that the colony offer British troops barracks and supplies. And it was apparent that some Americans of the propertied and merchant classes were more worried by the mobs of the Sons of Liberty than they were by British duties.


Critics of the taxes, however, could point to other dramatic developments. They pointed to mob riots in radical Boston. They noted that the colonies had drafted statements of support for Boston’s rebels and had retaliated—albeit, with inconsistent ardor—against the Townshend duties by refusing to buy British goods. Americans ramped up their grain exports to Britain, yes, but they felt no gratitude for their expanding market. The Americans were men of commerce, but their loyalty could not be bought—at least not with increased grain exports.


Britain folded once more. In 1770, the Townshend duties were repealed on all items save tea on the pretext that tea—unlike glass, lead, paper, and paint—did not come from England but was imported from India. While Parliament could grant that taxing Britain’s own goods was nonsensical, taxing trade between colonial territories made sense. Taxation on tea was a reminder to the colonies that Parliament had the right to levy taxes on any part of the British Empire. King George III and his new prime minister, Lord North, thought that a tax on tea hardly amounted to oppression; and as another bow to conciliation the number of British troops stationed in turbulent Boston was halved.








Boston Bullyboys


The “Boston Massacre” happened anyway. The massacre was no massacre at all, but the result of a raucous mob’s barracking of a British sentry. It started with taunts and snowballs from Bostonians who made a sport of goading the “lobster backs,”10 until twenty British soldiers were standing off hundreds of hooligans. For half an hour on 5 March 1770, “Negroes and mulattoes, Irish teagues and outlandish jack-tars”11—as John Adams described them—hurled insults, snowballs, and stones at the soldiers. One sentry, struck and knocked over by a club, had jolly well had enough. Regaining his feet, he fired his musket into the mob, and—without orders—so did several other soldiers who had been pushed too far. Three members of the mob were killed, and two were mortally wounded. Propagandists like Paul Revere and Samuel Adams turned this measured act of crowd control into a massacre the like of which had not been seen since Rome had salted the earth of Carthage.12 The more sober-minded John Adams was the defense attorney for the soldiers and got them acquitted of murder, though two of the eight accused had their thumbs branded as punishment.


After the “massacre” came the Boston Tea Party—a protest, ironically, against the lifting of the Townshend duty on tea. Unfortunately for the British, even removing taxes was unpopular in Boston, because the duty-less tea put tea smugglers at a competitive disadvantage. Thankfully, the Sons of Liberty—from Charleston to New York, but most especially in Boston—were on hand to defend the interests of American smugglers over those of the British East India Company. When Massachusetts Governor Thomas Hutchinson—an American devoted to English liberty and law—refused Sam Adams’s demand that British ships bearing tea be turned out of Boston Harbor, Sam Adams’s ruffians, disguised as Indians, had their celebrated party on 16 December 1773, taking tomahawks to tea crates and dumping so much caffeine into Boston Harbor that if it happened today they would surely be prosecuted by the Environmental Protection Agency.


The tea party forced King George III to recognize that there was no appeasing the Americans. He pressed Lord North for forcible measures to bring them to heel. These forcible measures the Americans would deem the “Intolerable Acts” (1774). The port of Boston was closed; Massachusetts’s government was reformed to shift more power into the hands of the governor and royal appointments; throughout America, British troops, who still lacked barracks, were given quartering rights on private property; and, most appalling to Calvinist New England, Parliament passed the Quebec Act, which gave French Catholics freedom of religion and extended Quebec’s boundaries to the Ohio and Mississippi rivers.


Americans cried tyranny (as well as no popery)—and were met with an eloquent rebuttal from Dr. Samuel Johnson. In his famous essay, Taxation No Tyranny (1775), he noted the hypocrisy of the colonials who railed against English toleration of French Canadian “popery” while simultaneously trying to lure French Canadians into rebellion against England and the Crown.13 He mocked the Americans as “These lords of themselves, these kings of Me, these demigods of independence” who forget that they are “colonists, governed by a charter.” He slapped America’s parliamentary defenders—a party that included his friend, the conservative reformer Edmund Burke—and delivered his closing blow against men like Thomas Jefferson: “We are told, that the subjection of Americans may tend to the diminution of our own liberties; an event, which none but very perspicacious politicians are able to foresee. If slavery be thus fatally contagious, how is it that we hear the loudest yelps for liberty among the drivers of negroes?”14


The answer was that liberty was only part of the story; America’s rebellion was also about power. As one American historian has noted: “It was not the British Empire that the patriots rejected or even the imperial system, but only America’s subordinate place within it.”15 Americans already had bold ideas about their future. Well before 1776, Americans recognized their manifest destiny. The American Whig editorialized in 1769: “Courage, then Americans! The finger of God points out a mighty empire to your sons…. The day dawns, in which this mighty empire is to be laid by the establishment of a regular American Constitution….”16 Benjamin Franklin foresaw, in 1767, that “America, an immense territory, favored by nature with all advantages of climate, soil, great navigable rivers and lakes, must become a great country, populous and mighty; and will, in a less time than is generally conceived, be able to shake off shackles that may be imposed on her and perhaps place them on the imposers.”17


There were of course no shackles on America, aside from the Proclamation Act of 1763, which was likely to collapse under inevitable westward expansion in any event, and the long-standing Navigation Acts, which confined American trade within Britain’s mercantile system. There were certainly no shackle marks on Benjamin Franklin’s, or Thomas Jefferson’s, or John Adams’s wrists. Even the nineteenth-century American historian and patriot Francis Parkman debunked the idea that the colonists were oppressed: “The measures on the part of the mother-country which roused their [the colonials’] resentment, far from being repressive, were less burdensome than the navigation laws to which they had long submitted; and they resisted taxation by Parliament simply because it was in principle opposed to their rights as freemen.”18


But just as the Cavaliers of the English Civil War were “Wrong but Wromantic,”19 the Founders were “wrong but wrighteous.” Men like Tom Paine, Patrick Henry, and Sam Adams were wildly effective agitators, propagandists, and radicals who fanned the flames of insurrection, as they were temperamentally suited to do. The Founders, however, skillfully detached them—and reserved for themselves—the actual business of creating the new American empire.


The Founders were men like John Adams (who opposed Paine’s Common Sense with his own conservative-constitutional Thoughts on Government); George Mason (a conservative who despised Patrick Henry, and whose Virginia Bill of Rights became the model for the Constitution’s Bill of Rights); James Madison, John Jay, and Alexander Hamilton (the authors of The Federalist); and of course George Washington.


They aspired not to overthrow the British constitutional system (which they in fact adapted), but to make America Britain’s equal—or superior. George Washington was an Anglophile. He believed in the ideal of an English gentleman: shaping everything from his manners to his suits (imported from London) to his military service. But he was denied a king’s commission because he was a colonial. His business interests had to be conducted through an utterly unnecessary British bureaucracy. He considered it an outrage that the British Empire, in whose interests he was an expansionist, would draw a line on a map granting the western frontier to the Indians. In such circumstances, America had to become an empire of its own. The other George, King George III, understood this point very well. On 26 October 1775, he told Parliament that “The rebellious war… is manifestly carried on for the purpose of establishing an independent empire.”20


The time for talk was over. The fighting had begun.







Lexington, Concord, and Bunker Hill


General Thomas Gage—commander in chief of British forces in the colonies and governor of Massachusetts—had orders to do whatever was necessary to restore the rule of law in Massachusetts. The first step, Gage thought, would be to seize the armory the colonists had established at Concord. Given that the colony was abuzz with militiamen cleaning muskets, making ammunition, and filling powder horns, it made sense to disarm them, if he could.


He was not dismissive of the risks. He assigned 700 to 900 men,21 grenadiers and light infantry, to do the job, and started them under cover of night. Cavalrymen were sent on forward patrols. One such group captured Paul Revere, who had been disturbing the peace by shouting that the British were coming—hardly news given that the colonies belonged to Britain. On the morning of 19 April 1775, an advance unit of more than 200 British light infantry led by Major John Pitcairn of the Royal Marines found its way blocked by a line of fifty militiamen on the village green at Lexington. The militia commander, John Parker, gave his orders: “Stand your ground. Don’t fire unless fired upon. But if they want to have a war, let it begin here.”


The British were also under orders not to fire. They continued to advance, the militia to retreat, and the British Major Pitcairn shouted a challenge: “Throw down your arms, ye villains, ye rebels.” A musket shot rang out—most likely not from a militiaman or a British regular but from a knave hiding either behind a stone wall or a villager’s window. Pitcairn reiterated the order not to fire, but muskets popped and suddenly there were scattered volleys from the light infantry against the retreating militia. The scent of gunpowder in their nostrils, the British troops charged with their bayonets affixed and had to be recalled by a snare drum tattoo.


It was only a skirmish: eight Americans were killed, nine or ten were wounded, and one British soldier and one British horse were wounded—certainly not enough to dissuade the British from marching on Concord. But the bodies that lay on Lexington Green were a rallying point for the Americans.


At Concord the British failed to discover the hidden munitions, but they did discover several hundred militiamen at Concord’s North Bridge. The British troops reacted instantaneously, and without orders, firing at the militia. An American volley came back in force—sixteen redcoats were hit; four officers were killed. The British troops abandoned the bridge and joined the main body of redcoats in the town.


Lieutenant Colonel Francis Smith of the 10th Regiment of Foot, in command of the Concord operation, decided the raid was a bust and that it was time to return to Boston. Then the trouble really began. The return march became a scourging of American musketry—muskets fired from behind trees, rocks, fence posts, all along the route—as militiamen from town after town turned out to fight the lobster backs. That these Americans were Indian fighters became apparent when the British troops found one of their own lying by the roadside: he had been scalped, ears severed, and brains removed, perhaps for a stew.


Despite making every tactical effort—sending out flankers, pausing in the retreat to return fire—the points of ambush were so numerous, the hostile forces gathering around them so many, that the British were eventually ordered to simply run through zones of hot fire, a gauntlet of musketry. Their line of retreat took them back through Lexington. Waiting for them were Parker’s militia, who got their revenge by picking off the retreating Britons.


Under a constant hail of musket balls and occasional hand-to-hand combat, running much of the way, the British were exhausted, their ammunition nearly spent, while musket-firing Americans kept after them like endless swarms of hornets. Finally, cannon fire smashed into Lexington, announcing the arrival of a British relief column led by Sir Hugh Percy—1,400 men: Royal Marines, Royal Welch Fusiliers, the King’s Own Regiment, and the 47th Regiment of Foot. More cannon shots—and an unauthorized charge by the Royal Welch Fusiliers—forced the Americans back.


The combined British forces—about 1,800 men—now had to execute a fighting retreat against 5,000 to 7,000 militiamen, and in executing this maneuver Lord Percy proved himself a worthy officer indeed. He moved his men slowly, clearing areas of hostiles rather than sprinting through them, and kept his strongest forces on the flanks to make ambushes more difficult and more costly to the enemy. Even so, it was a hard-fought retreat, and British discipline broke down as the angry, frustrated British troops lashed out at the towns that dotted the remaining fifteen miles to Boston. By the time it was over, the British had suffered more than 270 casualties, the Americans one-third that many. Blood had been shed in a way that made reconciliation impossible.


The British were stunned—even more so as they watched 10,000 American militiamen surround Boston, a number that quickly grew to 15,000 as militiamen from Connecticut, Rhode Island, and New Hampshire joined the siege. The British had expected mobs and trouble, but they had not expected battle on this scale. General Gage wrote: “The rebels are not the despicable rabble too many have supposed them to be…. In all their wars against the French they never showed such conduct, attention, and perseverance as they do now.”22


That war had begun was not in doubt. Only a month later, in May 1775, Ethan Allen’s Green Mountain Boys of Vermont—about 200 of them, and an ambitious officer from Connecticut, Benedict Arnold—wrested the forts at Ticonderoga and Crown Point from the British. Allen did so, lest there be any doubt about his authority, “in the name of the Great Jehovah and the Continental Congress.”23 The British force opposing him at Ticonderoga amounted to fewer than fifty invalided troops—such were British fears of imminent hostility or action. The Americans seized cannons—that was the big prize—and plentiful stores of arms and ammunition. The Continental Congress decided, in turn, to seize the initiative and in June 1775 ordered the invasion of Canada.


In the meantime, around Boston, the British prepared for a breakout. The Americans learned of the British plan and prepared to block it. They would force the British to confront them directly at two hills: Bunker and Breed’s. The Royal Navy shelled these positions, but to little effect. Even at this early stage of the war, the Americans excelled at preparing fortified positions. The Americans were masters of axe, shovel, and engineering—and so quick were they that they had fortified the hills overnight, surprising the British.


The British commander assigned to drive them off was General Sir William Howe, who, with his brother, Admiral Lord Richard Howe, was a reluctant campaigner against the Americans. General Howe had seen duty in North America before. He had fought with Wolfe at Quebec. Another Howe brother had been killed at Ticonderoga during the French and Indian War. Both Sir William, who held a seat in Parliament, and his brother, Admiral Howe, were public advocates of reconciliation with the Americans. But they obeyed their orders, however regretfully, to achieve that reconciliation by force.


From the Mystic River on Boston’s north side, General Howe landed a force of 1,500 men, divided into two striking parties, to dislodge an equal number of Americans. The main body of action brought the Welch Fusiliers, the King’s Own Regiment, and the 10th Regiment of Foot marching uphill against the American left, where the defenders were New Hampshire militia commanded by Colonel John Stark (formerly of Rogers’ Rangers). A cool and resourceful commander—his men had pounded their own musket balls out of lead taken from the pipes of a church organ—he and the other American officers steadied the men. They commanded them to hold their fire and knocked away their muskets if they had nervous trigger fingers. Major General Israel Putnam gave the famous order, “Don’t fire until you see the whites of their eyes.”24


The British landing force, unsupported by artillery—because they had loaded the wrong-sized cannonballs—charged with fixed bayonets. At fifty yards the Americans volleyed with devastating effect on the Fusiliers, then on the King’s Own Regiment, and then on the 10th Regiment of Foot. Almost a hundred men had fallen—every member of Howe’s staff had been hit—and the diversionary assault force, under General Robert Pigot, had been similarly stymied.


Only one thing had gone according to plan: the British bombardment of Charlestown, which lay just south of the American positions on Breed’s and Bunker Hills. The town was a blossom of flame, and its citizens were fleeing. If this was encouraging to British morale, Howe’s next attack on the entrenched Americans was not; it too was driven back. But Howe would not be swayed. He prepared for a third attack. This time, he would have artillery support—the proper cannonballs had arrived—reinforcements had come, and his men stripped off their useless packs, which only weighed them down on the charge.


The Americans had one horrible deficiency—they were virtually out of ammunition. Though they were able to volley against the next British charge, this time the British leapt over the parapets, into the American lines, and into hand-to-hand combat. The Americans fell back from Breed’s Hill to Bunker Hill and then retreated in the direction of Cambridge. The British were far too exhausted—and bloodied—to pursue them. Of the 2,500 Britons ultimately engaged in the fighting, nearly half were casualties—225 dead, nearly 1,000 more wounded. The Americans had suffered 150 dead and 300 wounded. The British claimed victory. They had taken a well-defended and well-placed position from a determined foe and cleared the Americans from the Charlestown peninsula overlooking Boston. But the Americans claimed victory, too, for they had fought the British in a stand-up battle, repulsed repeated attacks, and inflicted plentiful casualties on the redcoats, the finest infantry in the world.


The Americans might have sensed another advantage—it would be the advantage that in the end would win them the war. The British, under Howe, hoped to end the war through negotiations. The Americans’ commander in chief was not interested in negotiations; he was prepared to fight until North America belonged to the American colonists.







Washington


If Britain was divided about the war—with reluctant generals and admirals like the Howes and strong parliamentary opposition to fighting the Americans—we should remember that American opinion was divided as well, and that a Loyalist can no more be a traitor than a Patriot is. At the outset of the war perhaps as much as 40 percent of the American population was Tory—that is, loyal to the king and opposed to independence (among them was Benjamin Franklin’s son William). The Tories were not merely men of station—after all, there were plenty of landed gentlemen who were Patriots—they were fighting men. Among those joining General Howe were Robert Rogers and his Rangers. Rogers became the commander of Rogers’ Queen’s Rangers, who in 1776 would have the honor of capturing the spy Nathan Hale and handing him over for execution.


The British needed Loyalist support because Britain’s army amounted to only 48,000 men since the chancellor of the exchequer’s slashing of defense expenditure after the Seven Years’ War. These 48,000 men were deployed from Gibraltar to the West Indies and from London to India. Initially, the Crown thought the American insurrection could be put down relatively easily. The idea persisted that the Americans, who had played so little role in the French and Indian War and who lacked the international experience of the British army and navy, would scatter and run at the sound of British cannon and the sight of British redcoats. General Howe had reason to know otherwise, but such facts on the ground were slow to be accepted among the king’s men in Parliament.


Edmund Burke—a conservative, Irish-born Whig, sitting on the opposition benches—knew as well as Howe did that the Patriots would put up a stiff fight; their violent opposition to change had proven that repeatedly. He tried to remind Parliament that prudence is the prime political principle, that established tradition is a law of its own, and that American protests that Americans be taxed through their own representatives were in keeping with the rights of Englishmen. First principles about British sovereignty and the economic calculations of the Treasury, he argued, would not sway the Americans. They would rightly cling to their traditional rights and liberties, and Parliament should act with that understanding. “Magnanimity in politics is not seldom the truest wisdom; and a great Empire and little minds go ill together,” he reminded the House of Commons on 22 March 1775.


George Washington understood this better than did King George III. “The indispensable man,” as his biographer James Thomas Flexner has so rightly called him,25 Washington, more than anyone else, determined the outcome of the war and the direction of the American Republic that followed. Washington had come to see English law as, in the words of Mr. Bumble, “an ass.” The king might in theory be worthy of American allegiance. But if this meant misrule, cosseting the Indians, and higher taxes; if it meant snobbish and stodgy bureaucratic pettifogging from London that made an annoyance of normal commerce; and if it meant British redcoats policing American cities like Boston, what was the use of being under the Crown? Liberty was an Englishman’s—and an American’s—first allegiance, not the king; that was the tradition established by the Magna Carta. Kings would come and go, good ones and bad ones, but all must respect the rights of an Englishman; and it was the aristocrat’s prerogative most of all—his role in Britain’s unwritten constitution—to protect liberty and property.


Washington was no radical like Sam Adams. He had no desire for revolution per se. His, on the contrary, was the jealous guarding of the rights that came to his blood and station. He was a fourth-generation American, a plantation owner, and someone whose presence and character impressed everyone with its dignity and humility. His character was the fruit of gentlemanly ambition and of his broad-minded, but real, religious piety. He was a vigorous man, earning his way in the world from his early teens, inured to an outdoor life, an experienced soldier, a disciplinarian and demanding superior, but an intelligent and understanding one as well. He was no scholar, as men like Jefferson and John Adams (who called him “Old Muttonhead”) readily acknowledged, but, like many superior military men, he made up for that by solid judgment, fixity of purpose, and sudden lightning flashes of daring.
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